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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EFERS

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the
“Director(s)”) of Walnut Capital Limited (the “Company”), |
presented to you the annual report of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended 31
December 2024.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group recorded
a profit attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$0.4 million, compared to a loss attributable to owners of the
Company of approximately HK$25.3 million for the year ended
31 December 2023. The turnaround from the loss to profit was
mainly due to the change from loss arising in change in fair
value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss of
approximately HK$12.0 million for the year ended 31 December
2023 to gain arising in change in fair value of financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss of approximately HK$17.4
million for the year ended 31 December 2024 which partly offset
the increase of administrative expenses and other operating
expenses of approximately HK$4.4 million for the year ended 31
December 2024.

PROSPECTS

After three years of market downturns, 2024 marked a turning
point, with both the Hang Seng Index and CSI 300 delivering
positive returns. We remain optimistic about the Chinese market
for several key reasons:

1. Low Valuations: Current market levels present attractive
opportunities for investors.

2. Government Support: The Chinese government continues
to implement policies to bolster the economy.

3. Technological Revaluation: Investors increasingly recognize
Chinese companies’ ability to develop and launch world-

class, first-tier products.

4.  Shareholder Returns: More companies are paying dividends
and initiating share buybacks to reward investors.
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The Chinese government’s unwavering commitment to
supporting economic growth and reversing the recent slowdown
strengthen our confidence. This contrasts sharply with
developments in the United States, where President Donald
Trump’s policies — such as raising tariffs on various products
could lead a higher than expected inflation for a longer run. Amid
this uncertainty, global investors are turning back to the Chinese
market, drawn by its stable policy framework and promising
outlook.

Our investment approach will center on capital preservation and
prudent risk management. We will focus on sectors and assets
with strong fundamentals, capable of weathering economic
volatility. In this context, we see cryptocurrency as a potential
cornerstone of our strategy. We believe that traditional currencies
may face devaluation during downturns, and cryptocurrency may
offers hedge and growth opportunity in a long run.

The Board is dedicated to executing strategies that ensure
organizational resilience. We are poised to capitalize on emerging
opportunities while proactively mitigating risks, positioning the
Company for long-term success.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EFERS

APPRECIATION g |

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my deepest BABIERREEZG BISUETBH
gratitude and appreciation to business partners, external ZER-BE -ETEBRERURLHE-
professionals, fellow Directors, employees and our shareholders.

Mung Kin Keung FE
Chairman FEa
Hong Kong, 28 March 2025 EB _E_RAFE=A_-+/\H
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group recorded
a profit attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$0.4 million, compared to a loss attributable to owners of the
Company of approximately HK$25.3 million for the year ended
31 December 2023. The turnaround from the loss to profit was
mainly due to the change from loss arising in change in fair
value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss of
approximately HK$12.0 million for the year ended 31 December
2023 to gain arising in change in fair value of financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss of approximately HK$17.4
million for the year ended 31 December 2024 which partly offset
the increase of administrative expenses and other operating
expenses of approximately HK$4.4 million for the year ended 31
December 2024.

INVESTMENT OBJECTIVES, POLICIES AND
RESTRICTIONS

Set out below are the investment objectives, policies and
restrictions of the Group:

Our investments will normally be made in listed and unlisted
companies;

i.  The Group had made investments with a short to long
term perspective with the objective of making capital gain
as well as income from dividend or interests. Over the
years, the Group invested in listed and unlisted securities,
bonds, direct investments, projects, properties, structured
products and cryptocurrencies. Investments are also made
in special or recovery situations;

i. ~ There is no restriction on the proportion of the Company’s
assets which may be invested in any specific sector or
company save for the restriction that the Company will not
make an investment in any company which represents more
than 20% of the consolidated net assets of the Company at
the time such investment is made;
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEw Rt

INVESTMENT OBJECTIVES, POLICIES AND
RESTRICTIONS (CONTINUED)

iv. ~ The Company will not either on its own or in conjunction
with any connected person take legal, or effective,
management control of underlying investments and that in
any event the investment company will not own or control
more than 30% (or such other percentage as may from time
to time be specified in the Takeovers Code as being the level
for triggering a mandatory general offer) of the voting rights
in any one company or body; and

v.  The Directors do not intend to seek bank borrowings until
substantially all the Company’s funds have been invested
and that the Company borrows, the Directors do not intend
to borrow amounts representing in aggregate more than
the consolidated net assets of the Company at the time the
borrowing is made.

INVESTMENT REVIEW

As at 31 December 2024, the major investments of the Group
were (i) approximately HK$35,360,000 of a portfolio of listed
financial instruments; (i) approximately HK$47,093,000 of direct
investment in unlisted financial instruments; (iii) approximately
HK$2,991,000 of direct investment in unlisted investment funds;
and (iv) cryptocurrencies of approximately HK$41,012,000. The
investment portfolio of the Group mainly comprises equity and
debt securities mainly in Hong Kong and the United States of
America.

Dividend from listed equity investments during the year ended 31
December 2024 was approximately HK$139,000. The interest
income from bond and cryptocurrencies during the year ended
31 December 2024 were approximately HK$195,000 and
HK$90,000 respectively.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

INVESTMENT REVIEW (CONTINUED)

The details of all investments with a value greater than 5% of the
Group’s gross assets and at least 10 largest investments at 31
December 2024 are respectively set out in note 33.

BRI R

REOEE ()

RIEZ_MF+"A=+—H FrEBEEA
AEBEERESNZREURRVI0OERAK
BREZFIED RIS EE33

Market value/
fair value as
compared to
Number of  the consolidated Realised gain Unrealised
shares held total asset of for the (loss)/gain for
asat the Group at yearended  the year ended
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
Name of investments Notes 2024 2024 2024 2024
B5£E
R-IB-ME HE-I-ME HE-T-ME
R-%-mE¥ +-A=+-A +ZB=+-B +ZB=+-H
+ZRAZ+-B ZRAEEL[E LtFEZ LEEZRER
RS Mz BERMBE 2ZWHE/ATHE BERKE (BB W&
'000 % HK$'000 HK$'000
Tk % TER TAT
Listed equity securities LHREES
Alioaba Group Holding Limited MEEEERERERAR K7 1.87 397 218
Baijin Life Science Holdings Limited BeEHREERERAT
(formerly known as Affluent Partners (BiT@Afluent Partners Holoings
Holdings Limited) LimitecS3 =R B RA ) i 3745 149 = (337)
Brockman Mining Limited Brockman Mining Limited
ARREREARAT i 270,088 19.14 - (10,804)
Tencent Holdings Limited BAERERAR iv 5 1.60 388 666
Unlisted investment fund, equity and ELHREES RERERES
debt securities
Click VC Segregated Portfolio Company Click VC Segregated Portfolio Company
-Fund 3SP -Fund 3SP v NAFRER 1.19 - -
Infinity Technology (Cayman) Limited Infinity Technology (Cayman) Limited
- Preferred shares -BER v NATER 2.2 S 7
Oddup Inc. Oddup Inc
— Preferred shares -BER Vi NATRER 23.02 - 24,314
Oddup Inc. QOddup Inc.
- SAFETI - SAFETI vii NARER 337 - 826
Pantheon Lab Limited BERBERAT
~ Convertible promissory notes - ERRRER vii N/AREA 402 4 1,806
Cryptocurrencies held on exchange REBERENNEER
institutions
-UsDT -UsDT X NARER 29.06 - -
785 16,642

j (EEE il
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERER R

INVESTMENT REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Notes:

As disclosed in Alibaba Group December Quarter 2024 Results
Conference Call Transcript of Alibaba Group Holding Limited
(“Alibaba”), looking ahead, Alibaba’s strategic direction and roadmap
were clearer than ever. Alibaba would continue to focus on three
business categories: first, domestic and international e-commerce;
second, Al + cloud computing; and third, internet platform businesses.
Alibaba are confident that Alibaba’s focused strategy will drive
sustained solid growth for Alibaba Group.

Today, Al technology advancements were driving profound industry
transformation. In alignment with Alibaba’s business landscape,
Alibaba would scale up investments in the following three areas as part
of Alibaba’s broader Al strategy over the next three years:

First, infrastructure for Al and cloud computing: The Al era presents
a clear and massive demand for infrastructure. Alibaba would
aggressively invest in Al infrastructure. Alibaba’s planned investment in
cloud and Al infrastructure over the next three years was set to exceed
what Alibaba had spent over the past decade.

Second, Al foundation models and Al-native applications: Al
foundation models were pivotal to transforming industry productivity.
Alibaba would substantially increase R&D investment in Al foundation
models to maintain Alibaba’s technological leadership and drive the
development of Al-native applications.

Third, transforming Alibaba’s existing businesses with Al: Al technology
presented powerful opportunities to enhance user value across
Alibaba’s e-commerce and other internet platform businesses. Alibaba
would increase investment in Al application R&D and computing power,
and deeply integrate Al across Alibaba’s businesses, capturing new
growth opportunities in the Al era.

Looking ahead, Alibaba were confident in Alibaba’s focused strategy
on e-commerce and “Al + Cloud” and excited by the business
opportunities being unlocked by this new technology cycle.

Walnut Capital Limited | Annual Report 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

INVESTMENT REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

(i)

As disclosed in the 2024 interim report of Affluent Partners Holdings
Limited (now known as Baijin Life Science Holdings Limited (“Baijin
Life”)) overall speaking, although the Baijin Life’s revenue in the pearls
and fine jewellery products segment was increased during FY24,
based on the Baijin Life’s current observation and estimation, the
overall downtrend was expected to be carried forward to a certain
extent for coming years due to the change of consumption pattern
caused by the downturn. As such, the Baijin Life had started exploring
the fine jewellery market, characterised by high-quality materials
and craftsmanship. Since February 2024, the Baijin Life had been
cooperating with another local brand who had been in the high-end
jewellery business for a significant time. By 30 September 2024, the
cooperation had already contributed 21.4% to the Baijin Life’s total
revenue, demonstrating positive impact and success of the established
recognition of the local brand to the financial performance of the Baijin
Life.

Further, the Baijin Life had completed the acquisition of Tonnett Julis
Holdings Limited and a group of companies (the “Target Group”) that
was principally engaged in providing scientific and pharmaceutical
research and development services, skincare solutions through self-
transformed skincare brand and mid-to-high-end functional skincare
products, as well as brand marketing and consulting services.

The Baijin Life considered that the skincare market had immense
potential and there was a product crossover between the Baijin Life’s
pearl products and the Target Group’s skincare products, one of the
synergies being processing pearls to become one of the ingredients
in skincare products. Given the sales and distribution of pearls and
jewellery products by the Baijin Life and the sales and distribution
of skincare products by the Target Group, both primarily focus on
the female consumer market, there might bring along potential
collaboration and cross-selling opportunities which would be mutually
beneficial to both parties. The directors of Baijin Life believed that the
acquisition gave the Baijin Life an opportunity to expand its existing
business both vertically by using the Baijin Life’s existing pearl products
as raw materials for skincare products and horizontally by widening its
range of female consumer products extending from pearl and jewellery
to skincare products.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERER R

INVESTMENT REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continueq)

(i)

As disclosed in the interim report of Brockman Mining Limited
(“Brockman”), was principally engaged in the acquisition, exploration
and development of iron ore projects in the Pilbara region of Western
Australia. Brockman'’s objective was to focus on the development
of its iron ore projects in Western Australia which were advancing
to the construction phase. Brockman operated with long-term
business strategy to operate responsibly considering the interests of
all stakeholders including its employees and contractors. It aimed to
produce positive financial outcomes through (i) Brockman and MinRes
continuing to advance the Marillana and Ophthalmia projects; (ii)
attention to the its Corporate Governance and Social responsibilities,
including a focus on ongoing safety and environmental compliance,
and ongoing positive interaction with the communities within which it
operated.

As disclosed in the announcement of the annual result for the year
ended 31 December 2024, Tencent Holdings Limited (“Tencent”),
benefitting from Al-powered enhancements to Tencent’s advertising
platform, higher engagement in Video Accounts, and growth in
Tencent’s evergreen games, Tencent achieved double digit revenue
growth while sustaining continued operating leverage in the fourth
quarter of 2024. Starting a few months ago, Tencent had reorganised
Tencent’s Al teams to sharpen focus on both fast product innovation
and deep model research, increased Tencent’s Al-related capital
expenditures, and increased Tencent’s R&D and marketing efforts
for Tencent’s Al-native products. Tencent believed these stepped-up
investments would generate ongoing returns via uplifting productivity in
Tecent’s advertising business and longevity of Tecent’s games, as well
as longer term value from accelerated consumer usage of Tecent’s Al
applications and enterprise adoption of Tecent’s Al services.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

INVESTMENT REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continueq)

v)

(Vi)

(vil)

(viil)

Fund 3 SP is operated by Click VC Segregated Portfolio Company
Limited and was incorporated in the Cayman Islands and continued in
the British Virgin Islands. Fund 3 SP is principally invested in start-ups
at the seed to series A stage in Hong Kong and internationally.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the unaudited net assets of the
company was approximately US$1,261,000.

Infinity Technology (Cayman) Limited was incorporated in the Cayman
Islands. Infinity Technology (Cayman) Limited is principally engaged in
providing the point of sales and online ordering platform service.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the unaudited consolidated
profit attributable to the equity holders of the company was
approximately HK$259,000 and its unaudited consolidated net
liabilities was approximately HK$4,275,000.

Oddup Inc. was incorporated in the United States of America and
is principally engaged in operating a research platform that provides
analytical information on startups, their trends, and both current and
expected future valuations.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the unaudited loss attributable
to the equity holders of the company was approximately US$103,000
and its unaudited net assets was approximately US$2,397,000.

Pantheon Lab Limited was incorporated in the Cayman Islands and is
principally engaged in artificial intelligence and software research and
development.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the unaudited loss
attributable to the equity holders of the company was approximately
HK$8,938,000 and its unaudited net liabilities was approximately
HK$13,260,000.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEw Rt

INVESTMENT REVIEW (CONTINUED)
Notes: (Continued)

(ix)  USDT is a blockchain-enabled platform designed to facilitate the use
of fiat currencies in a digital manner. USDT exist as digital tokens built
on several leading blockchains. These transport protocols consist of
opensource software that interface with blockchains to allow for the
issuance and redemption of USDT. USDT is referred to as stablecoin as
it is pegged at 1:1 with a matching fiat currency (e.g. 1 USDT = 1 USD)
and is backed 100% by USDT's reserves, which includes traditional
currency, cash equivalents, and other assets, including receivables
from loans made by USDT to third parties. USDT are listed on major
exchanges, Over-The-Counter desks, and wallets.

The Directors believe that the future performance of the Hong
Kong listed equities held by the Group is largely affected by
economic factors, investor sentiment, demand and supply
balance of an investee company’s shares and fundamentals of an
investee company, such as investee company’s news, business
fundamental and development, financial performance and
prospects. Accordingly, the Directors closely monitor the above
factors, particularly the fundamentals of each investee company
in the Group’s equity portfolio, and proactively adjust the Group’s
equity portfolio mix in order to improve its performance.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had (i) cash and
cash equivalents of approximately HK$5,999,000 (2023:
HK$1,595,000); (ii) other financial liability of approximately
HK$10,000,000 (2023: HK$10,000,000); and (i) net current
assets of approximately HK$120,490,000 as compared to
approximately HK$64,655,000 as at 31 December 2023. As at
31 December 2024, the gearing ratio (borrowings/total equity)
was 7.83% (2023: 14.24%), borrowings included an amount due
to a director and other financial liability — non-convertible bond.
As at 31 December 2024, the current ratio of the Group was 9.95
compared to 6.46 as at 31 December 2023.

CHARGES ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2024, there were no charges on the Group’s
assets (2023: Nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CAPITAL COMMITMENT AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES

The Group had no material capital commitment and contingent
liabilities as at 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

SHARE CAPITAL AND CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2024, the Company had 1,050,500,887
shares (2023: 700,333,925 shares) of HK$0.01 each in issue.

FUND RAISING ACTIVITIES AND USE OF
PROCEEDS

On 9 April 2024, the Company proposed to conduct the
rights issue (the “Rights Issue”) on the basis of one (1) rights
share (“Rights Share(s)”) for every two (2) existing shares
of the Company held on the record date of 29 April 2024 at
the subscription price of HK$0.162 per Rights Share, to raise
gross proceeds of HK$57 million by way of issuing up to
350,166,962 Rights Shares. On 30 May 2024, the Rights Issue
was completed. The net proceeds from the Rights Issue after
deducting the expenses were approximately HK$55 million. The
Company intended to apply the net proceeds from the Rights
Issue as to HK$15 million for general working capital and the
remaining balance of approximately HK$40 million for future
investments.

Details of which were set forth in the Company’s announcements
dated 9 April 2024, 20 May 2024 and 29 May 2024, and the
Company’s prospectus dated 30 April 2024.

As at 31 December 2024, the net proceed of approximately
HK$11 million and HK$40 million has been utilised as general
working capital and investments respectively. The remaining
balance of approximately HK$4 million was not utilised yet.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

Most of the investments and the business transactions of the
Group are denominated in Hong Kong dollar. The Board believes
the foreign exchange exposure is minimal.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEw Rt

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS
OF SUBSIDIARIES

The Group did not have any material acquisition or disposal of
subsidiaries during the year ended 31 December 2024.

FUTURE PLAN FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group did not have any plan for material investments or
capital assets as at 31 December 2024.

PROSPECTS

After three years of market downturns, 2024 marked a turning
point, with both the Hang Seng Index and CSI 300 delivering
positive returns. We remain optimistic about the Chinese market
for several key reasons:

1. Low Valuations: Current market levels present attractive
opportunities for investors.

2. Government Support: The Chinese government continues
to implement policies to bolster the economy.

3.  Technological Revaluation: Investors increasingly recognize
Chinese companies’ ability to develop and launch world-

class, first-tier products.

4. Shareholder Returns: More companies are paying dividends
and initiating share buybacks to reward investors.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Chinese government’s unwavering commitment to
supporting economic growth and reversing the recent slowdown
strengthen our confidence. This contrasts sharply with
developments in the United States, where President Donald
Trump’s policies — such as raising tariffs on various products
could lead a higher than expected inflation for a longer run. Amid
this uncertainty, global investors are turning back to the Chinese
market, drawn by its stable policy framework and promising
outlook.

Our investment approach will center on capital preservation and
prudent risk management. We will focus on sectors and assets
with strong fundamentals, capable of weathering economic
volatility. In this context, we see cryptocurrency as a potential
cornerstone of our strategy. We believe that traditional currencies
may face devaluation during downturns, and cryptocurrency may
offers hedge and growth opportunity in a long run.

The Board is dedicated to executing strategies that ensure
organizational resilience. We are poised to capitalize on emerging
opportunities while proactively mitigating risks, positioning the
Company for long-term success.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEw Rt

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

The Group ensured that its employees are remunerated
according to the prevailing manpower market conditions
and individual performance, qualification, experience and the
remuneration policies are reviewed on a regular basis.

There are 15 employees, including 2 executive directors and 3
independent non-executive directors as at 31 December 2024.
Remuneration policies are reviewed in accordance with the
market situation and the performance of individual director from
time to time. In addition to salaries, the Group provides employee
benefits such as medical insurance and mandatory provident
fund schemes. Moreover, discretionary bonus and share options
will be paid or granted to employees based on the Group’s and
individual performances.

The emoluments of the directors were determined with reference
to their duties and responsibilities with the Company, the
Company’s performance, prevailing market conditions and the
market emoluments for directors of other listed companies and
reviewed by the remuneration committee of the Board.

The Group’s total staff costs (including directors’ emoluments)
for the year ended 31 December 2024 under review amounted
to approximately HK$11,692,000 (31 December 2023:
approximately HK$7,701,000).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Principal risks

TERR

Business risk

EBER

Economic risk
Bm R

Liquidity risk
nEEERR

Price risk

BRER

Description

Bt

Business risk is the risk of rapid changes in
investment market could impact the Group’s
performance.

EBRBARETHRRE ML ELE
BRRZ A

Economic risk is the risk of any downturn in
economic conditions could impact the Group’s
performance.

REREACERRASETEAERREZE
B o

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group would not be
able to meet its financial obligations as they fall
due.

RBETERALERRELECIHERE
% 2 [ o

Price risk is the risk that changes in equity prices
would affect the Group’s income and the value of
its holdings of equities.

BRERZREABREFRTERERRAK
FREEZRRE-

BEEw R th

FERARRAEEER

Mitigating actions

ERARIEIE

o Continuously monitor the market dynamics and
adopt a conservative approach on investment.

RBREATSBERFMRTZRET

o Regularly review forward looking indicators to
identify economic conditions.
EHIEREAREMEIER MESER T

o Regularly monitor liquidity and statement of
financial position.

EHEERBEEREHR K

o Maintain appropriate liquidity to cover
commitments.

HRBERDESRAAE-

o Limit liquidity risk exposure by investing securities
listed on stock exchanges.
BBEENBSF IR LHZEHFREIREE
%}_HZDD o

o Regularly monitor equity portfolio to address any
portfolio issues promptly.

EHEARAES MERREMNLREHEGH

RBo

o Spread price risk exposure by investing a number
of equities.
BBBREEBREDMER MR
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERER R

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

(CONTINUED)

Principal risks

TEER

Exchange risk

N L B

People risk
AE R

Legal and regulatory
risk

ARKREERR

Description

it

Exchange risk is the risk that changes in foreign
exchange rates would affect the Group’s income
and the value of its holdings of assets.

SNERIEREXEHE R ERER WA RERR
REEGBEZAR-

People risk is the risk of loss the services of any
Directors, senior management and other key
personnel could have a material adverse effect
on the Group’s businesses.

ANERBATAES SREEEREMTIEA
BRBIENTERRBELTEATTZE
Z g o

Legal and regulatory risk is the risk that a breach
of laws and regulations could lead to litigation,
investigations or disputes, resulting in additional
costs on civil and/or criminal proceedings and
reputational damage being incurred.

FRREERRABILERRER D SEERT
I BERAG BHRERFREFD KRS
ETRELRINIAZ R
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Mitigating actions

ERARIEHE

Closely monitor statement of financial position
and cashflow exchange risk exposures and
consider appropriate use of financial instruments,
such as forward exchange contracts, foreign
currency options and forward rate agreements, to
hedge the exchange risk.

BYSREM BN R IR E M2 5 E B g K 7T
ZRBECRHERIAINESH INERERER
FIEGE S T A RINERK o

Provide competitive reward and benefit packages
to attract and retain the employees the Group
needs.

REERIF N2 RERER > MRS Ri%EX
EEREZES

Ensure that the staff of the Group has the right
working environment to enable them to do the
best job and maximise their satisfaction at work.
ﬁﬁ$%l§l%ﬁ BIMFRE BHETL

EHBTREREIERRESEITIERE
]g o

Monitor changes and developments in the
regulatory environment and ensure that sufficient
resources being made available to implement for
any compulsory changes.
EAEERREEIRER TRFEAEER
TR AR mI 1t &)

Seek legal or other specialist advice as
appropriate.

BRERAHMBETR WEA)



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY

The Group is committed to acting in an environmentally
responsible manner in our business operations and promoting
green measures towards environmental protection to our
employees. Our Group adheres to the principle of recycling,
reducing and reusing. Encouraging paper recycling culture,
doubled-sided printing and copying, and encouraging
energy-saving culture by switching off idle lightings and
electrical appliance are implemented by the Group. In order
to enhance environmental sustainability, the Group will review
its environmental practices from time to time and will consider
implementing further eco-friendly measures and practices in the
Group’s business operation.

COMPLIANCE WITH REGULATIONS

During the year, there was no incidence of non-compliance with
the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the Group as far as the Board is aware.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS, SUPPLIERS AND OTHERS

As the Group is engaged in investment in listed and unlisted
financial instruments and cryptocurrencies, there are no major
customers and suppliers during the year.

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its suppliers, customers, employees and other
stakeholders to meet the Group’s immediate and long-term goals.
Although there are no major customers and suppliers during the
year, the Company creates a framework for motivating staff and
a formal communication channel in order to maintain healthy
relationships with its employees and other stakeholders.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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FINANCIAL KEY PERFORMANCE
INDICATORS

The Group’s net asset value is a key indicator of the financial
performance and it increased to approximately HK$127,659,000
as at 31 December 2024 (2023: HK$71,883,000). Such
increase of net asset value was mainly due to the Rights Issue
was completed on 30 May 2024. The net proceeds from the
Rights Issue after deducting the expenses was approximately
HK$55,377,000.

The net asset value per share was approximately HK$0.12 (2023:
HK$0.10), which was calculated on the above net assets value
and 1,050,500,887 (2023: 700,333,925) ordinary shares of
HK$0.01 each in issue as at 31 December 2024.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Mung Kin Keung (“Mr. Mung’), aged 64, was appointed as
an executive Director on 9 March 2007 and was re-designated as
Co-chairman and Chairman of the Company on 17 October 2022
and 24 May 2024 respectively. He is also a director of various
subsidiaries of the Company. He holds a Conferment of Honorary
Doctoral Degree from Sinte Gleska University of California. In
November 2007, he was awarded the 9th World Outstanding
Chinese Award by the World Chinese Business Investment
Foundation. He has extensive experience in areas of business
management, strategic planning and development.

Mr. Mung was appointed as an executive director of Global
Mastermind Holdings Limited (“GMHL”, stock code: 8063), a
company listed on the GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), on 19 June 2014.

Save as disclosed above, he did not hold any directorships in any
other listed public companies in the last three years and does not
hold any other position with the Company or other members of
the Group.

Mr. Mung is the father of Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan, an executive
Director and the chief executive officer and a substantial
shareholder of the Company. As at the date of this report, China
Lead Investment Holdings Limited (“China Lead”) is interested in
588,327,925 shares of the Company, representing approximately
56.00% of the issued share capital of the Company. China Lead
is wholly owned by Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Mung does not have any
relationship with any Directors, senior management or substantial
or controlling shareholders of the Company.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

EFZEN

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (CONTINUED)

Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan (“Mr. Alan Mung”), formerly known
as Mung Chiu Yu, Alan, aged 38, was an executive Director
during the period from 12 November 2010 to 3 April 2013 and
was re-appointed as an executive Director on 31 March 2014
and the chief executive officer of the Company on 9 February
2015. He is also a director of various subsidiaries of the Company.
He holds a Bachelor of Arts Degree in Business Economics
from University of California-Santa Barbara and a Master Degree
in Finance from Peking University. He has extensive working
experience in investment and asset management.

Mr. Alan Mung was appointed as an executive director of GMHL
on 24 March 2014.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Alan Mung did not hold any
directorship in other listed public companies in the last three years
and does not hold any other position with the Company or other
members of the Group.

Mr. Alan Mung is the son of Mr. Mung, an executive Director
and Chairman of the Company. As at the date of this report,
China Lead is interested in 588,327,925 shares of the Company,
representing approximately 56.00% of the issued share capital of
the Company. China Lead is wholly owned by Mr. Alan Mung.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Alan Mung does not have any

relationship with any Directors, senior management or substantial
or controlling shareholder of the Company.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. Fung Wai Ching (“Mr. Fung”), aged 55, was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director on 10 October 2014.
He has over 20 years of experience in managing paper,
packaging and printing industries in both China and Hong Kong
markets.

He was appointed as an independent non-executive director of
GMHL on 23 June 2014.

Save as aforesaid, he did not hold any directorship in other listed
public companies in the last three years.

Mr. Chung Wang Hei (“Mr. Chung”), aged 38, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director on 12 July 2022. Mr.
Chung, holds a Bachelor of Science degree from the Hong Kong
Baptist University. He has over 10 years of experience in the field
of software engineering and is currently a director of a private
technology company which provides technology consultancy
services and executes large-scale transformation programs.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Chung did not hold any
directorships in any other listed public companies in the last three
years.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

EFZEN

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Ms. Cheng Hiu Ching (“Ms. Cheng”), aged 31, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director on 6 February 2025.
She obtained a bachelor of commerce degree (majoring in
accounting and economics) from The University of Western
Australia and a Master of Business Administration from the City
University of Hong Kong. Ms. Cheng is a member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Certified
Practising Accountant Australia. She also holds fellowship in The
Taxation Institute of Hong Kong.

Ms. Cheng has over 10 years of experience in accounting,
finance and corporate governance. Ms. Cheng joined Tong
Tong Al Social Group Limited (formerly known as Gome Finance
Technology Co., Ltd.) (stock code: 628), a company whose
shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, in
February 2022 as the finance manager and was appointed as the
company secretary, authorised representative and process agent
from February 2023 to June 2023. Ms. Cheng then rejoined Tong
Tong Al Social Group Limited as the deputy financial controller in
April 2024.

Save as disclosed above, Ms. Cheng did not hold any

directorships in any other listed public companies in the last three
years.
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The Directors present their report and the audited financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY

The principal activity of the Company is to act as an investment
holding company. The principal activities of its subsidiaries are
set out in note 26 to the consolidated financial statements. The
Group principally invests in listed and unlisted equity and debt
securities, unlisted investment funds and cryptocurrencies.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group’s business review, discussion and analysis of the
development, operating performance and financial position
and particulars of important events affecting the Group that
have occurred since the end of the year ended 31 December
2024 are set out in sections headed “Chairman’s Statement”,
“Management Discussion and Analysis” and “Financial Summary”
on page 4 to page 6, page 7 to page 22 and page 160
respectively. Such discussions constitute an integral part of this
report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income on page 66 of this report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: nil).

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company are
set out in note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the year are set out in note 27 to the consolidated
financial statements and in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity respectively.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), the
contributed surplus account of the Company is available for
distribution. However, the Company cannot declare or pay a
dividend, or make a distribution out of contributed surplus if:

(@ itis, or would after payment be, unable to pay it liabilities as
they become due; or

(b)  the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less than
the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share capital and
share premium.

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company’s reserves available
for distribution to shareholders as at 31 December 2024
amounted to approximately HK$71,540,000 (as at 31 December
2023: HK$58,975,000).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group and the Company are set out in note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
bye-laws and there is no restriction against such right under the
laws of the Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders of the
Company.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year and up to the date

of this report were as follows:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Mung Kin Keung (Re-designated from Co-chairman
to Chairman on 24 May 2024)

Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan (Chief Executive Officer)

Non-executive Directors:
Dr. Ng Kit Chong (Co-chairman) (Resigned on 24 May 2024)

Mr. Wang Mingmin (Retired on 21 June 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Fung Wai Ching

Mr. Chung Wang Hei

Ms. Cheng Hiu Ching (Appointed on 6 February 2025)
Ms. Lui Sau Lin (Resigned on 6 February 2025)
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The term of office of each Director are subject to retirement by
rotation in accordance with the Company’s bye-laws (the “Bye-
laws”).
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In accordance with Bye-law 84(1) of the Bye-laws, Mr. Mung Kin
Keung and Mr. Chung Wang Hei, will retire from office of Director
by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company (the “AGM”) and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election at the AGM.

In accordance with Bye-law 83(2), Ms. Cheng Hiu Ching will retire k#2408 5583(2)1% » EFEERSE 2 T I I SR B
from office of Director by rotation at the AGM, and being offer FAREHMEBESE TERNREBFAS LB
herself for re-election in AGM. EiEo

All other remaining Directors shall continue in office. FRIEHEMBR T ESREEER (T
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the AGM has a service
contract which is not determinable by the Group within one
year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

A permitted indemnity provision (as defined in Section 469 of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance) for the benefit of the directors
of the Company is currently in force and was in force throughout
the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACT OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan and Mr. Mung Kin Keung are executive
directors of the Company and Global Mastermind Holdings
Limited (“GMHL?”).

Famous Flamingo Limited (“Famous Flamingo”) is an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of GMHL. Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan is
the director of Famous Flamingo.

On 1 November 2023, Famous Flamingo, as landlord, entered
into a tenancy agreement with the Company, as tenant, for a term
of one year with a monthly rental of HK$70,000 from 15 October
2023 to 14 October 2024.

On 1 December 2024, Famous Flamingo, as landlord, entered
into a tenancy agreement with the Company, as tenant, for a term
of one year with a monthly rental of HK$70,000 from 15 October
2024 to 14 October 2025. As at 31 December 2024, the tenancy
agreement remained in full force and effect.

Other than as disclosed above, no transactions, arrangements
or contracts of significance to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a director or a connected
entity of a director of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at
any time during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of
the Directors in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(the “SFO”)) which were notified to the Company and The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they were deemed or taken to
have under such provisions of the SFO) or which were required
to be and were recorded in the register required to be kept
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the
“Model Code”) in the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) as follows:
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS (CONTINUED)

Interests in shares and underlying shares of the
Company

ESREBTHRASHEABTREM
1aEE R 2 e s « AR R EFA
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Approximate

percentage
of the issued
share capital

Number of of the
ordinary Company as at
shares of the 31 December
Name of Director Capacity Company held 2024
1 - 3
+=ZB=+—8H
1 NG
FRr¥sZ4AFE) BE{TRE
R 515 ZiEk¥E 2B
(Note 2)
(Hfzt2)
Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan Interest in controlled corporation 588,327,925 56.00%
(Note 1) RREGEE Z #m
RmNX ok Fat)
Notes: BisE -
1. These shares were beneficially owned by China Lead Investment 1. ZERGTHEEREZERERAE (TP8FE) - —

Holdings Limited (“China Lead”), a company in which Mr. Mung Bun
Man, Alan (“Mr. Alan Mung”), an executive Director and the chief
executive officer of the Company, holds the entire issued share capital.
Therefore, Mr. Alan Mung is deemed to have an interest in the shares in
which China Lead is interested.

2. The percentage is calculated on the basis of 1,050,500,887 shares of
the Company in issue as at 31 December 2024.
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ARRANGEMENT TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the period was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors
to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDER'’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2024, so far as is known to the Directors
and the chief executive of the Company, and based on the
public records filed on the website of the Stock Exchange and
records kept by the Company, the interest and short positions
of the persons or corporations (other than the Directors and
chief executive of the Company) in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, or
were directly or indirectly, interest in 5% or more of the nominal
value of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all
circumstances at general meetings of the Company or any other
members of the Group were as follows:
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDER'’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY
(CONTINUED)

Long position in ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each
of the Company

FERRNBTLERG REMRGZ
EmkiRE (@

g;gliﬁﬁfﬁonﬁ%ﬁzzk’&ﬁ]%ﬁﬂﬁz

Approximate
percentage of

the issued

Number of share capital of

ordinary the Company

shares of as at

Capacity/ the Company 31 December

Name of Shareholder Nature of interests held 2024
e 111 b 3

+=B=+—8

BT

FRiGZ4 AR BR{TiRE

RER B E B3 #=EtE BiERME ZHEAES L
(Note 2)

(Hfz22)

China Lead (Note 1) Beneficial owner 588,327,925 56.00%

EEE (B5E1) BmERAA

Notes:

1. China Lead is wholly owned by Mr. Alan Mung.

2. The percentage holding is calculated based on the issued share capital

of the Company as at 31 December 2024 comprising 1,050,500,887
Shares.

OTHER INTERESTS DISCLOSEABLE UNDER
THE SFO

Save as disclosed above, so far as is known to the Directors,
there is no other person who has an interest or short position
in the shares and underlying shares that is discloseable under
Section 336 of the SFO.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend
Policy”). Under the Dividend Policy, the Company does not
have any pre-determined dividend payout ratio. The declaration,
payment and amount of dividends are subject to the Board’s
discretion having regard to the following factors:

(@ the earnings, financial condition, capital requirements and
future plans of the Group;

(o)  the Shareholders’ interests;

(c) the economic outlook;

(d)  the contractual restrictions on the payment of dividends by
the Company to the Shareholders;

(e) the statutory and regulatory restrictions on the payment of
dividends by the Company; and

() any other factors the Board may consider relevant.

The Board shall review the Company’s dividend policy from time
to time and may take any amendments that it deems necessary
or desirable.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has complied with the requirements under Rules
3.10(1), 3.10(2) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules for the year ended
31 December 2024. The Company has received confirmation of
independence from all 3 independent non-executive Directors,
namely Ms. Lui Sau Lin, Mr. Fung Wai Ching and Mr. Chung Wang
Hei in accordance with Rules 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

The Board has reviewed the independence of all independent
non-executive Directors and concluded that all of them
are independent within the definition of the Listing Rules.
Furthermore, the Board is not aware of the occurrence of any
events which would cause it to believe that the independence
of any of the independent non-executive Directors has been
impaired up to the date of this report.
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PUBLIC FLOAT

On the basis of information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors at the date
of this report, the Company has complied with the public float
requirement of the Listing Rules throughout the year ended 31
December 2024.

COMPETING INTERESTS

As at 31 December 2024, none of the Directors, substantial
shareholders of the Company nor any of their respective
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) had any interest in a
business which causes or may cause competes or may cause
any significant competition with the business of the Group.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

During the year under review, no management and administrative
contracts regarding the entire or any major businesses of the
Company have been entered into or have existed.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

The Group provides a defined contribution mandatory provident
fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the
Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance to all
staff. Under the MPF Scheme, employer and employees are each
required to make mandatory contributions to the MPF Scheme
and contributions to the MPF Scheme vested immediately.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year, the Group did not make any charitable donations
(2023: nil).
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 28 January 2025, Mr. Alan Mung completed to assign
400,000,000 Aki Network tokens as a gift to Full Long Holdings
Limited (“Full Long”), a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company (the “Donation®). No consideration was required
to pay by Full Long. The fair value of Aki Network tokens as
at date of completion of the Donation was approximately
HK$35,041,000 and held by the Group for capital appreciation.

AUDITOR

On 10 October 2022, HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
(“HLB”) resigned and Elite Partners CPA Limited (“Elite
Partners”) was appointed as auditor of the Company to fill
the casual vacancy caused by the resignation of HLB, until the
conclusion of 2023 AGM.

On 11 November 2024, Elite Partners resigned and Jon Gepsom
CPA Limited (“Jon Gepsom”) was appointed as auditor of the
Company to fill the casual vacancy caused by the resignation of
Elite Partners, until the conclusion of 2025 AGM.

Save as disclosed above, there was no other changes in the
Company’s auditor in the past three years.

Jon Gepsom shall retire in 2025 AGM and, being eligible, will
offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-
appointment of Jon Gepsom as auditor of the Company will be
proposed at 2025 AGM.

By order of the Board

Mung Kin Keung
Director
Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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The Company is dedicated to maintain a credible framework of
corporate governance with a view to being transparent, open
and accountable to the shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”).

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has applied the principles and adopted code
provisions set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG
Code”) in Appendix C1 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) as its own code on
corporate governance practices. The current practices will be
reviewed and updated regularly to follow the latest practices in
corporate governance.

In the opinion of the Board, the Company has complied with the
code provisions of the CG Code during the year.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules on the Stock
Exchange as the code of conduct for dealing in securities of the
Company by the Directors. All Directors have confirmed, upon
specific enquiries made by the Company, that they have complied
with the required standard set out in the Model Code during the
year ended 31 December 2024. To ensure Directors’ dealings in
the securities of the Company (the “Securities”) are conducted in
accordance with the Model Code, a Director is required to notify
designated executive directors in writing and obtain a written
acknowledgement from the designated executive directors prior
to any dealings the Securities.
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CULTURE

Purpose

Walnut Capital Limited is a purpose-driven company. We are
committed to invest in the companies at the most attractive value.
Vision

Our vision is to create the most compelling investment company
of Hong Kong, by using our reputation as a platform to support
our stakeholders, and by capturing the opportunities that are
shaping our markets and societies.

Values

Integrity, Excellence, Engagement

Strategy

Prioritizing and aligning the interest with the stakeholders

THE BOARD

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date
of this report were:

Composition

Executive Directors:

Mr. Mung Kin Keung (Re-designated from Co-chairman
to Chairman on 24 May 2024)

Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan (Chief Executive Officer)

Non-executive Directors:
Dr. Ng Kit Chong (Co-chairman) (Resigned on 24 May 2024)

Mr. Wang Mingmin (Retired on 21 June 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Fung Wai Ching

Mr. Chung Wang Hei

Ms. Lui Sau Lin (Resigned on 6 February 2025)

Ms. Cheng Hiu Ching (Appointed on 6 February 2025)
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THE BOARD (CONTINUED)

As at 31 December 2024, the number of independent non-
executive Directors is 60% of the Board membership. One
independent non-executive Director has the appropriate
professional accounting experience and expertise. The Board
has a balance of skills and experience appropriate for the
requirements of the business of the Company. The names and
biographical details of each Director are disclosed on pages 23
to 26 of this annual report. Mr. Mung Kin Keung is the father of
Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan. Saved as disclosed, there is no other
relationship (including financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationship) among the Board members.

Roles and functions of the Board and
the management

The Board is responsible both for how the Company is managed
and the Company’s direction. Approval of the Board is required
for the strategy of the Group, major acquisition and disposal,
major capital investment, dividend policy, appointment and
retirement of Directors, remuneration policy and other major
operational and financial matters. In addition, the Board has
also delegated various responsibilities to the audit committee
(the “Audit Committee”), the remuneration committee (the
‘Remuneration Committee”) and the nomination committee
(the “Nomination Committee”) of the Company. Further details
of these committees are set out in this report.

During the year, the management had provided all members
of the Board with monthly updates giving a balanced and
understandable assessment of the Company’s performance and
position to enable the Board as a whole and each Director to
discharge their duties under the Listing Rules.

During scheduled meetings of the Board, the Board discusses
and formulates the overall strategies of the Group, monitors
financial performances and discusses the annual and interim
results, as well as discusses and decides on other significant
matters.
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ESS @

R_EBE_NE+—_BA=+—B BIUENTE
EABAESEEMEBABZ60% —LBILIE
HITEESRAEEEXTHRBRER-BESR
TEABAABDERIEZHE MR-
RERFIECEWNESNUEST 2 UL KRE
B - RRBAEATMIXITEZ K bR
FrigEEN EFgEMT BT MEMBE
(BIEMB £ REIEMEA 1EEHEH
%) o

EFEREERZAGRBAE

EFCRREEXRAREEELRRTNE
E-HIE] AEBRB EXNBEBREE-EX
EXRE - REBR - BEFZEZEREREH
MEBERREMEREERYBERIEAERS
EFgME- I EFETRAEATELE
Eg (BREEE) #HEZES (HFNES
g RREREEE (RBAZEG) BRZAE
BE - AFLEGZE—DTHFBHNERS-

TR EEEZBHARBRBRRRETH
EMmEERZIERNESFSMAERERMHES
BEMER UEEEE (FR—EEE) k&
EERBELTRUBITHE

RNESSCEMTERMBE ES R TmILF
EREEZERRE BEEMBERBETARE
ERTPHES UESwEATHMEAS
IHo



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

THE BOARD (CONTINUED)

Roles and functions of the Board and
the management (Continued)

The Board is also responsible for performing the corporate
governance duties as required under the CG Code. The major
roles and functions of the Board in respect of the corporate
governance are:

- to develop and review the Company’s policy and practices
on corporate governance;

- to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

- to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

- to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual applicable to employees and Directors;
and

—  toreview the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

The Board had considered the following corporate governance
matters for the financial year 2024

- review of the compliance with the CG Code; and

- review of the effectiveness of the internal controls and risk
management systems of the Company through the Audit
Committee.

The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’
liabilities insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of the
Company.
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THE BOARD (CONTINUED)

Roles and functions of the Board and the
management (Continued)

The Board held 9 Board meetings during the year 2024. Due
notice and board papers were given to all Directors prior to
the meeting in accordance with the Listing Rules and the CG
Code. The company secretary of the Company (the “Company
Secretary”) assists the Chairman in drawing up the agenda of
each Board meeting and each Director may request inclusion
of matters in the agenda. Generally, at least 14-day notice of a
regular Board meeting is given and the Company aims at giving
reasonable notice for all other Board meetings. The Company
Secretary is responsible for taking minutes of Board meetings
and Board committee meetings. Minutes of Board meetings
and Board committees meetings are kept by the Company
Secretary and are open for inspection by any Directors/committee
members. Details of individual attendance of Directors are set out
below:

Attendance of individual Directors at Board
meetings in 2024

Number of meetings 9
Executive Directors:

Mr. Mung Kin Keung 9/9
Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan 9/9

Non-executive Directors:
Dr. Ng Kit Chong 4/5
Mr. Wang Mingmin 5/5

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Fung Wai Ching 9/9
Mr. Chung Wang Hei 9/9
Ms. Lui Sau Lin 9/9

The Board has established procedures to enable Directors, upon
reasonable request, to seek independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstances at the Company’s expense.
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THE BOARD (CONTINUED)

Directors’ training and professional development

Every newly appointed Director receives a comprehensive, formal
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his appointment to
make sure that he has a proper understanding of the operations
and business of the Company and that he is fully aware of his
responsibilities in the Company. Ms. Cheng Hiu Ching, who was
appointed as independent non-executive Director on 6 February
2025, had obtained legal advice from CLKW Lawyers LLP as
required under Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules on 27 January
2025, and she has confirmed her understanding of the obligation
as a director of the Company.

Directors’ training is an ongoing process. Directors are
continually updated on the latest development of the Listing
Rules and other regulatory requirements to ensure compliance
and upkeep of good corporate governance practice. Directors
are also encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.

The Company had received record of trainings from each Director
relating to development and refreshment of their knowledge and
skills. The participation by individual Directors in the continuous
professional development is recorded in the table below:
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THE BOARD (CONTINUED)

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The roles of chairman and chief executive officer are separate
and are not held by the same individual exercised by different
individuals to ensure their independence, accountability and
responsibility. Mr. Mung Kin Keung served as chairman of the
Company. Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan is the chief executive officer
of the Company. The chairman provides leadership for the Board
and the direction of the Group. The chief executive officer has
overall chief executive responsibility for the Group’s business
development.

During the year, the chairman of the Company met with the
independent non-executive Directors without the presence of the
executive Directors.

Appointment and re-election of Directors

Appointment of new Directors is a matter for consideration by the
Nomination Committee. The Nomination Committee will review
the profiles of the candidates and make recommendations to
the Board on the appointment, nomination and retirement of
Directors.

According to the Bye-laws, any Directors so appointed by the
Board shall hold office, in the case of filling a casual vacancy, only
until the next following general meeting of the Company or, in the
case of an addition to their number, until the next following annual
general meeting of the Company who shall then be eligible for
re-election at such general meeting. Every Director is subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

Non-executive Directors

All the non-executive Directors (including independent non-
executive Directors) have each signed a letter of appointment
with the Company and have appointed for an initial term of one
year commencing from the date of the letter of appointment
unless terminated in accordance with the terms of the letter
of appointment. The term shall be automatically renewed for
consecutive term(s) of one year.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

To strengthen the functions of the Board and to enhance its
expertise, there are three Board committees namely, the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee formed under the Board, with each performing
different functions. The terms of reference of the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee are available on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has been established with written terms
of reference and currently comprises three independent non-
executive Directors. The Audit Committee is chaired by an
independent non-executive Director with appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise. The current members of the Audit Committee are Ms.
Cheng Hiu Ching (Chairman), Mr. Chung Wang Hei and Mr. Fung
Wai Ching.

The major roles and functions of the Audit Committee include:

- to serve as a focal point for communication between other
Directors and the auditor in respect of the duties relating to
financial and other reporting, internal controls, audits, and
such other matters as the Board may determine from time
to time;

- to review the appointment of auditor on an annual basis
including the review of the audit scope and approval of the
audit fees;

= to review the annual and interim financial statements prior to
their approval by the Board, and recommend application of
accounting policies and changes to the financial reporting
requirements;

- to review the auditor’s management letters (if any) and
management’s responses; and
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)

to assist the Board in fulfilling its responsibility by providing
an independent review and supervision of financial
reporting, by satisfying themselves as to the effectiveness of
the internal controls and risk management of the Group and

the adequacy of the audits.

Set out below is the major work performed by the Audit
Committee during the year included, among other things, the

following:

- to review the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2024 and for the six months ended 30

June 2024;

= to appoint external auditor;

- to review the effectiveness of the internal controls system

and risk management; and

- to review and discuss with the external auditor over the

financial reporting of the Company.

The Audit Committee held 4 meetings during the year. Details of

individual attendance of its members are set out below:

Attendance of individual members at
Audit Committee meetings in 2024

Number of meetings 4
Independent Non-executive Directors

Ms. Lui Sau Lin (Committee Chairman) 4/4
Mr. Fung Wai Ching 4/4
Mr. Chung Wang Hei 4/4
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Board has established the Remuneration Committee with
written terms of reference, comprising three independent non-
executive Directors and the Chairman, which meets at least once
a year.

The maijor roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee
include:

= formulation of the remuneration policy, reviewing and
recommending to the Board the annual remuneration
policy;

S ensuring no Director is involved in deciding his own
remuneration; and

- to consider of the remuneration of the Directors and senior
management of the Group.

The Remuneration Committee held 3 meetings during the year.
Details of individual attendance of its members are set out below:

Attendance of individual members at
Remuneration Committee meeting in 2024

Number of meetings 3

Executive Director
Mr. Mung Kin Keung 3/3

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Fung Wai Ching (Committee Chairman) 3/3
Mr. Chung Wang Hei 3/3
Ms. Lui Sau Lin 3/3
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Board has established the Nomination Committee with
written terms of reference, comprising three independent non-
executive Directors and the Chairman, which meets at least once
ayear.

The major roles and functions of the Nomination Committee
include:

to review the structure, size and composition of the Board;

- to assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors;

- recommend to the Board on relevant matters relating to the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession
planning for Directors;

S to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to the
Board on the selection;

—  to review the policy on Board diversity (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) and any measurable objectives for
implementing such Board Diversity Policy and to review the
progress on achieving the objectives; and

= where the Board proposes a resolution to elect an individual
as an Independent Non-executive Director at the general
meeting, it should set out whenever elect an individual as
an independent non-executive Director (i) the process used
for identifying the individual and why the Board believes the
individual and the reasons why it considers the individual
to be independent; (i) if the proposed independent non-
executive Director will be holding their seventh (or more)
listed company directorship, why the Board believes the
individual would still be able to devote sufficient time to the
Board; (i) the perspectives, skills and experience that the
individual can bring to the Board; and (iv) how the individual
contributes to diversity of the Board in the circular to
shareholders and/or explanatory statement accompanying
the notice of the relevant general meeting.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)

In considering the nomination of a new Director, the Nomination
Committee will take into account the qualification, ability, working
experience, leadership and professional ethics of the candidates.
In determining the independence of Directors, the Board follows
the requirements set out in the Listing Rules. According to
the Bye-laws, the Board has the power from time to time and
at any time to appoint any person as a Director either to fill a
casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board subject to the
recommendation of the Nomination Committee.

The Nomination Committee held 1 meeting during the year.
Details of individual attendance of its members are set out below:

Attendance of individual members at Nomination
Committee meeting in 2024

Number of meetings 1

Executive Director
Mr. Mung Kin Keung 11

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chung Wang Hei (Cormmittee Chairman) 11
Mr. Fung Wai Ching 1/1
Ms. Lui Sau Lin 1/1

REMUNERATION POLICY

The remuneration policy of the Company is to ensure that all
employees, including all Directors, are sufficiently compensated
for their efforts and time dedicated to the Company and
remuneration offered is appropriate for their duties and in line
with market practice. No Director, or any of his associates, and
executive is involved in deciding his own remuneration.

Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management

The executive Directors are closely involved in and are directly
responsible for all activities of the Group. The Board considers
that the senior management comprises the executive Directors.

Particulars regarding senior management and other Directors’
remuneration and the five highest paid employees as required to
be disclosed pursuant to Appendix D2 to the Listing Rules are set
out in note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board adopted a board diversity policy which sets out the
objectives and principle regarding board diversity for the benefits
of achieving the Company’s strategic objectives with a view of
having a balanced diversity of both skills and experience and
of perspective. Board appointments will be based on merit and
candidates will be considered against measurable objectives,
taking into account the Company’s business and needs.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
criteria, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, knowledge, professional experience
and skills. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and the
contribution that the selected candidates may bring to the Board.

The Directors will consider and review the diversity of the Board
and to set up, if appropriate, measurable objectives according to
the Company’s own business model and specific needs.

GENDER DIVERSITY

As at 31 December 2024, there was one female member of the
Board.

As at 31 December 2024, the Company had a total of 15 staff.
The ratio of male to female is 3:2. The Board is satisfied that the
Company has achieved gender diversity in its workforce.

BOARD INDEPENDENCE

The Group has mechanisms to ensure independent views and
input are available to the Board and such mechanisms will
be reviewed annually by the Board, encouraging all directors
including independent non-executive directors to express their
views in an open manner during the Board/Board Committees
meetings. While all independent non-executive directors are
also members of the board committees to enable various
and independent view in Company’s matter. In addition, all
Directors, including independent non-executive directors, are
entitled to seek further information and documentation from the
management on the matters to be discussed at board meetings.
They can also seek assistance from the Company Secretary and,
where necessary, independent advice from external professional
advisers at the Company’s expense. The Board considered the
said mechanisms have been operating effectively.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary supports the Board by ensuring
good information flow within the Board and that board policy
and procedures are followed. The Company Secretary is also
responsible for advising the Board through the Chairman on
corporate governance and the implementation of the CG Code.
The Company Secretary is an employee of the Company and has
day-to-day knowledge of the Group’s affairs.

Company Secretary reports to the Chairman and the Chief
Executive Officer. All Directors also have access to the advice
and services of the Company Secretary to ensure that all
applicable laws, rules and regulations are followed. The selection,
appointment and dismissal of the Company Secretary is subject
to the Board approval.

The Company Secretary has confirmed that he has taken no less
than 15 hours of relevant professional training during the year.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year, total fees paid/payable to Elite Partners, the
Company’s preceding auditor, amounted to approximately
HK$19,000 for audit services.

During the year, the total fee paid/payable to Jon Gepsom,
the Company’s current auditor, amounted to approximately
HK$350,000 for audit services.

During the year, the total fee paid to Elite Partners amount to
HK$200,000 for non-audit services for share issuing expenses.

During the year, no fee paid to Jon Gepsom for non-audit
services.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board is responsible for the risk management and
internal control systems of the Company and reviewing their
effectiveness. The Board oversees the overall risk management
of the Group and endeavors to identify risks, control impact of
the identified risks and facilitate implementation of coordinated
mitigating measures.

During the year, the Company has adopted and reviewed the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control and risk management
procedures which include the policies, procedures, monitoring
and communication activities and standard of behaviour
established for safeguarding the interests of the shareholders
of the Company. The risk management and internal control
systems of the Company aim to help achieving the Group’s
business objectives, safeguarding assets and maintaining proper
accounting records for provision of reliable financial information.
However, the design of the systems is to provide reasonable,
but not absolute, assurance against material misstatement in the
financial statements or loss of assets and to manage, rather than
eliminate, the risks of failure when business objectives are being
sought.

The processes used to identify, evaluate and manage significant
risks by the Group are summarized as follows:

Risk Identification

° Identifies risks that may potentially affect the Group’s
business and operations.

Risk Assessment
o Assesses the risks identified by using the assessment

criteria developed by the management; and

° Considers the impact and consequence on the business
and the likelihood of their occurrence.

Risk Response

° Prioritises the risks by comparing the results of the risk
assessment; and

o Determines the risk management strategies and internal
control processes to prevent, avoid or mitigate the risks.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (CONTINUED)

Risk Monitoring and Reporting

° Performs ongoing and periodic monitoring of the risk and
ensures that appropriate internal control processes are in
place;

° Revises the risk management strategies and internal control
processes in case of any significant change of situation; and

° Reports the results of risk monitoring to the management
and the Board regularly.

The Company does not have an internal audit function and is
currently of the view that there is no immediate need to set up an
internal audit function within the Group in light of the size, nature
and complexity of the Group’s business. It was decided that the
Board would be directly responsible for internal control of the
Group and for reviewing its effectiveness during the year.

The Group has engaged Insightnetic Consultancy Limited as
its risk management and internal control review adviser (the
“Adviser”) to conduct the annual review of the risk management
and internal control systems for the year ended 31 December
2024. Such review is conducted annually and the cycles to be
reviewed are under rotation basis. The scope of review was
previously determined and approved by the Board. The Adviser
has reported findings and areas for improvement to the Audit
Committee and management of the Company. The Board and
Audit Committee are of the view that there are no material internal
control deficiencies noted. All recommendations from the Adviser
will be properly followed up by the Group to ensure that they are
implemented within a reasonable period of time.

The Company has a policy to assess the likely impact of any
unexpected and significant event that may impact the price of the
shares or their trading volume and to decide whether the relevant
information is considered as inside information that needs to be
disclosed as soon as reasonably practicable pursuant to Rules
13.09 and 13.10 of the Listing Rules and the Inside Information
Provisions under Part XIVA of the SFO.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (CONTINUED)

Risk Monitoring and Reporting (Continued)

Based on its assessment which covers all material controls
including financial, operational and compliance controls and
risk management functions, the Board believes that for the
year ended 31 December 2024, the Company'’s internal control
and risk management systems are effective and adequate. The
Board is satisfied that there are adequate resources of staff with
appropriate qualifications and experience in its accounting and
financial reporting team and that sufficient training and budget
have been provided.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company had established a shareholders’ communication
policy and shall review it on a periodic basis to ensure its
effectiveness.

The Company uses a range of communication tools to ensure its
Shareholders are kept well informed of key business imperatives.
These include annual general meeting, annual report, various
notices, announcements and circulars. The Company has also
maintained a corporate website which enables Shareholders,
investors and the public to receive timely and updated information
on the Company. The arrangements of dissemination of
corporate communications have been published under the
section Corporate Governance in the Company’s website.

Separate resolutions are proposed at the general meetings
for such substantial issues, including the re-election of retiring
Directors.

The Company’s notices to Shareholders for the annual general
meeting (“2024 AGM”) of the Company held on 21 June 2024
were sent to Shareholders at least 21 clear days before the
meeting.

An executive Director, chairman/members of the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee and the representative of external auditor were
available at the 2024 AGM to answer questions from the
Shareholders. The chairman of the 2024 AGM had explained
the procedures for conducting a poll during the meeting. All
resolutions proposed at the 2024 AGM were voted separately by
way of poll. All the votes cast at the said meeting were properly

counted and recorded.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
(CONTINUED)

Attendance of individual Directors at the
Annual General Meeting in 2024
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Attendance
HEX
Executive Directors: MITEE
Mr. Mung Kin Keung REBIE 4
Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan XmX Tk 4
Non-executive Directors: JEMITESE :
Dr. Ng Kit Chong REHEL (RS2 THE N/A B F
(Resigned on 24 May 2024) A+ U HETD)

Mr. Wang Mingmin FHELE 4
Independent Non-executive Directors: JHIZIEHMITESE :
Mr. Fung Wai Ching IEHEIE S E 4
Ms. Lui Sau Lin EHEBELLT v
Mr. Chung Wang Hei BB E 4

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for requisitioning a special general
meeting and for putting forward proposals at
general meetings

Shareholder(s) holding at the date of deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company
may, by written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary
signed and deposited in accordance with the bye-law 58 of the
Bye-laws, require a special general meeting to be called by the
Directors for the transaction of any business specified in the
requisition.

A special general meeting shall be held within two months after
the deposit of such requisition. If the Board does not within
twenty-one days from the date of the deposit of the requisition
proceed duly to convene a meeting, the requisitionists themselves
may convene such physical meeting in accordance with the
provisions of Section 74(3) of the Companies Act 1981 of
Bermuda.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (CONTINUED)

Procedures for requisitioning a special general
meeting and for putting forward proposals at
general meetings (Continued)

To put forward proposals at a general meeting of the Company,
a Shareholder should lodge a written request, duly signed by
the Shareholder concerned, setting out the proposals at the
Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong for the
attention of the Board and the Company Secretary. The request
will be verified with the Company’s branch share registrars in
Hong Kong and upon their confirmation that the request is proper
and in order, the Company Secretary will pass the request to the
Board. Whether a proposal will be put to a general meeting will be
decided by the Board in its discretion.

The procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for
election as a Director is posted on the Company’s website at
www.irasia.com/listco/hk/walnutcapital/.

Shareholders’ enquiries

General meetings of the Company provide a direct forum
of communication between Shareholders and the Board.
Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries in writing to the
Board through the Company Secretary at the principal place of
business in Hong Kong.

The Company Secretary shall forward the Shareholders’ enquiries
to the Board, where appropriate to answer the Shareholders’
questions.

In addition, Shareholders can contact Tricor Secretaries Limited,
the share registrar of the Company in Hong Kong, if they have any
enquiries about their shareholdings, share registration and related
matters.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR
PREPARING THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge that it is their responsibilities in
preparing the consolidated financial statements of the Company.
The statement of the auditor about their reporting responsibilities
on the consolidated financial statements is set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 57 to 65.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO
THE SHAREHOLDERS OF WALNUT CAPITAL LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda
with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Walnut
Capital Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 66 to 159, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including material accounting policy information and
other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 December 2024, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSASs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Audiitor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTER

Key audit matter is the matter that, in our professional judgment,
was of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. This matter was addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements
as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not
provide a separate opinion on this matter.

Key audit matter

St EE

ERE#

HPCREEBEHAMASBRMHENEBE
R (TEBEAHEMN) ETEH -HMEZF
EATRENESECERRS ZHLIHLF 5
REMBREBERENE T — P EE—D
Wil - RIBE B G LG RIGNFEZEZ /A0
EiETR (TZF))  HABIN S&H
WERBT&TATHNEMERSE - FFIHE
B RFIFMESHNSESRRELTERBEMS
RPN EREHE®E-

RSt RIA

FRBFFEZRBERMANEZRAE B oY
HABA T ER M BERRRAEENSE
H-zRRERAERMABSABERSUBTERERK
HAERFETRE RMAFTSHZFTHEEMR
BENER-

How our audit addressed the key audit
matter

EANEHNFIEEARENEE

Fair value measurement on financial assets

FBRMBREEZ A FEHE

Refer to notes 3.2, 4, 19 and 31 to the consolidated financial staternents.

DR S FBIRANEE3.2 4 19K%31 °

As at 31 December 2024, the Group held unlisted equity
and debt securities with carrying amounts of approximately
HK$47,093,000 which were classified as financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss.
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KEHFES  REEL 547,093,000 0 DiEABBEER
BRUATFEIRZABEE -
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Our audit procedures in relation to the fair value
measurement of the Group’s portfolio of unlisted
equity and debt securities included, but were not
limited to:
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Key audit matter

FEE RN

Fair value measurement on financial assets (Continued)

BRHMBEREEZ 2 FENE (7

The valuations of the Group’s unlisted equity and debt
securities are measured at fair values determined based on
significant unobserved inputs using valuation techniques
and classified into level 3 fair value hierarchy as defined in
HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement.
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The valuation of the unlisted equity and debt securities are
complex and require the application of significant judgment
by the management.
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How our audit addressed the key audit
matter
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Our audit procedures in relation to the fair value
measurement of the Group’s portfolio of unlisted
equity and debt securities included, but were not
limited to: (Continued)
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o evaluating the competence, capabilities
and objectivity of the independent qualified
professional valuers;
TEBYGEREXRGHEMZER &
NREEMN

° obtaining an understanding of the valuation
techniques and the processes performed
by the independent qualified professional
valuers and the management’s review
process of the work of the valuations;
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° enquiring the management to assess the
reasonableness and appropriateness of
the methodologies used and checking, on
sample basis, the accuracy and relevance
of key assumptions, parameters and
inputs used in the valuations based on
the knowledge and understanding of the
financial instruments;

MEEEEN UTEMAREZEE
ERGEN  WREHMB T ANDH
IR iR E L E PP B RV R R
=2 RBABE 2 ERETE BN ;

HESBRAT | 20245F 5

59



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B|IZAETER S

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit
matter
FASEE T HIE BMMEHNFAEEMRETEE

Fair value measurement on financial assets (Continued)

BRHMBEREEZ 2 FENE (7

The fair values of unlisted equity and debt securities were Our audit procedures in relation to the fair value

valued by independent qualified professional valuers. measurement of the Group’s portfolio of unlisted
FLETRAREBEHEESNATEEBELSERER(E  equity and debt securities included, but were not
BT & o limited to: (Continued)
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o checking the arithmetical accuracy on the
valuation model; and
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° reviewing the sufficiency and
appropriateness of the disclosure in the
consolidated financial statements.
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OTHER MATTERS

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2023 were audited by another auditor who
expressed an unmodified opinion on these statements on 28
March 2024.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon (the “Other Information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the Other Information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the Other Information
and, in doing so, consider whether the Other Information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to
be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this Other
Information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by
the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B\ S

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report
our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section
90 of the Bermuda Companies Act, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as
a going concern.

B ZHEMRS

ZERETE 5 S MBI R A RIEN
BT (@)

RIBEEBESTERNETESHNBRET  RME
REEHE RIFTERRRERE - FFITF

o B RFFEHNRFAERMERGS
MHERERGFEERERRAZAR R
SRRITESRERUEHE LR U
REDTERBEZEFTRE FHR
PR REEZE - A IFER BEW R BER
RE ERER EREAIEERASE
EH 2z b RAEREFERANFMES
ZERERRAZ ARSI REERRA
ERMERZ EAERMRM 2 EE

mEESTHEBRZ I ES LIREHE
ZEFEF BENLIFY S£HE
MIEFIBBARIMEERER -

o Bk

s TAEEEMERAGSHBRNBEMKRE
HE st st RIEMREZ G B E-

s HEERAFKEBEKERGSEEZRE
MEF iR WIRIBFAERS ZESHRE
BERSFRERFRABREBMZEN
THEM - EMAEERY SEEZ
REBECERNELEERER - HHFIR
MFEERFTEER AL EREZH
MRS RFBEERELIRGEYHTERE
hZ BRI E  RINBERAKESRE  BIFK
PEREEXRIFEREBESR -HMAZER
TPERBEZHEMNRE B LTSI E
SHBRE AT RARFEENIBFERAIEE
N BEEEFERFELE-

HESBRAT | 20245F 5

63



64

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B\ S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within the Group
as a basis for forming an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the audit work for purpose of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matter. We describe this
matter in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Mr. Wong Ho Kwan with Practising Certificate
number PO7543.

Jon Gepsom CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Room 1003-05, 10/F,,

Siu On Centre,

188 Lockhart Road, Wan Chai,
Hong Kong

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
RElEnkEMEEEER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE —ZE " UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

2024 2023
ot 111} 3 —EBI=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt sE F#&T FAT
T
Revenue Wt 6 539 165
Other income HAWKA 7 360 -
Gain/(loss) arising in change in fair FRBRENAATETRZ
value of financial assets at fair value MHEELATEETESE
through profit or loss, net zW/ (§518) 38 9 17,358 (12,032)
Administrative expenses and other THRHX REMEERS
operating expenses (17,658) (13,225)
Finance costs RO E A A 8 (200) (202)
Profit/(loss) before income tax PREFSMAET (5518) 9 399 (25,294)
Income tax expense PRSI 12 - =
Profit/(loss) and total FAREE AELEE
comprehensive income/ wH 7 (5518) RE2m|
(expense) for the year it~ (FAsZ) 4458
attributable to owners of the
Company 399 (25,294)
(Restated)
Ces==eTl))
Earnings/(loss) per share srREMN (58 13
Basic and diluted (HK cents) EARAHE Bl 0.04 (3.26)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these BEM i sF AZE R A BERKR 2B E 2 °

consolidation financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
HFERBIRER

At 31 December 2024 R ZE &+ -8B =+—H

2024 2023
“EmE —E=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5T F#Ex TFET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES HBERAR
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment Yz B R 15 34 93
Intangible assets mPEE 17 7,135 7,135
7,169 7,228
Current assets MBS E
Prepayment SEA R 465 478
Other receivables HAh UL ER =R 630 281
Deposits paid BifEE 408 324
Cryptocurrencies nE sk 18 41,012 =
Financial assets at fair value BB m IR AT EIER
through profit or loss ZHHEE 19 85,444 73,828
Cash and cash equivalents BERIREEEER 20 5,999 1,595
133,958 76,506
Current liabilities mENB R
Accruals and other payables [ ST BR R A ELfh FE (S BR R 21 3,468 1,615
Amount due to a director B —%EEHIE 22 - 236
Other financial liability HhHEas
— non-convertible bond - AR EBRES 23 10,000 10,000
13,468 11,851
Net current assets MBS ERE 120,490 64,655
Net assets BEEFE 127,659 71,883
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

FEMBIRRR

At 31 December 2024 R —Z _WE+ "B =+—H

2024 2023

o 1 .- 2 BT

Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5F FHET FET

EQUITY R
Capital and reserves FRATEEAEREELRR

attributable to owners HE

of the Company
Share capital [N 24 10,505 7,003
Reserves HE 117,154 64,380
Total equity RS 4EgE 127,659 71,883
Net asset value per share (HK$) SIREERE (F1) 25 0.12 0.10

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 March 2025
and are signed on its behalf by:

Mung Kin Keung
XEE
Director

EFE

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these
consolidation financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REEDEEBR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE —E " UF+_F=+—HIEFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

FRFEEAELS
Capital
Share Share  Contribution  contribution ~ Accumulated Total
capital premium surplus reserve losses equity

e fefrafE BOEE - Bt e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TERT TEL TER TEL THET
(Note a) (Note b) (Note c)
(Hiita) (i) (Hiitc)

As at 1 January 2023 RZE_=%5—F—H 7,003 146,099 646,448 45,330 (747,703) 97,177
Loss and total FEEBREARELE

comprehensive

loss for the year - - - - (25,294) (25,294)

Asat31December2023 ~ RZEZ=
andasat1January2024  +-B=1+—Hk

“Z-ME-B—H 7,003 146,099 646,448 45,330 (772,997) 71,883
Profit and total RN REERR
comprehensive income ks
for the year - - - - 399 399
Issue of new shares by way — SURRR AL BTHRG
of rights issue fote 24) (H1z224) 3,502 53,225 - = - 56,727
Share issuing expenses RIDETRSY - (1,350) - - - (1,350)

Asat31 December 2024 R-B-MF

+=R=+-H 10,505 197,974 646,448 45,330 (772,598) 127,659

Notes: BiaE -

(@  Share premium represents the amount by which the issue price of @ ROEEBEROHETEBHZERNZEBEZE
shares exceeds the par value of those shares and is distributable to R WA IR FARREIIRER R BEREEE D IR
shareholders of the Company provided that immediately following the EB%B A R HBEBREMFBERETERER
date on which the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company HEHRER o

will be in a position to pay off its debts as and when they fall due in the
ordinary course of business.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

=
AR

FEEHmEHR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE —ZE " UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

Notes: (Continued)

b

The contributed surplus of the Group brought forward represents the
amount transferred from the share premium due to the share premium
reduction effective on 23 November 2015 and various capital reduction
subsequently. Under the Bermuda Companies Act, the contributed
surplus is available for distribution. However, the Company cannot
make a distribution out of the contributed surplus if: (i) it is, or would
after the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as they become due;
or (i) the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less than its
liabilities.

Capital contribution reserve represents Mr. Mung Kin Keung (“Mr.
Mung’), a director and an ex-substantial shareholder of the Company,
had compensated the Group from suffering loss of deposits paid for
investments in prior years, and fulfilled his responsibility as a personal
guarantee and settled all outstanding balance of deposits paid for
investment during the year ended 31 December 2015.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE —E " UF+_F=+—HIEFE

2024 2023
“E-MEF .
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT FE7T
T
Cash flows from operating REEBZMERE
activities
Profit/(loss) before income tax PRPTISIRANEF], (B518) 399 (25,294)
Adjustments for: Bt TS EEHAE .
Dividend income ISV N (139) (164)
Interest income ] B WA (400) 1)
Depreciation of property, plant and ME-BERZEZINE
equipment 67 96
(Gain)/loss arising in change in fair #EiaEm iR AT ESER
value of financial assets at fair ZHBEEATEEEE
value through profit or loss, net 2 (WH) EBIRPE (17,358) 12,032
Finance costs AL E AR AN 200 202
Gain on disposal of property, plant HEME -BERFREZ
and equipment I (360) —
Operating cash flows before RTEEEETEH
movements in working capital ZEBIHSME (17,591) (13,129)
Change in prepayment TR FRIBEH) 13 (29)
Change in other receivables HAthFEUL AR R £ ED (349) (243)
Change in deposits paid B g (84) 377
Change in cryptocurrencies =g &EE) (41,012) -
Change in financial assets at fair value B3B8 Bk LA FEFER
through profit or loss 2 BB EEF 5,742 11,083
Change in accruals and other payables & 51 B 705 E fih FE {5 BR =i & B 1,853 (4)
Net cash used in operating REEBERZHAE 3
activities (51,428) (1,945)
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Cash flows from investing

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Q# =
n‘7|' = iﬂﬁ ALEE
For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE —ZE " UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

REXBZHESRE

2024

—EmE

HK$’000
FAT

activities
Dividend received BURRE 139 164
Purchase of property, plant and BAYE -BERSZE

equipment (8) -
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME BEMREZ

plant and equipment FriSFIE 360 -
Interest received BUF S 400 1
Net cash generated from investing S EXEFEELEZINESFEE

activities 891 165
Cash flows from financing MEXBZRERE

activities
Interest paid BFE (200) (202)
Advance from a director KE—REFZEB™ 1,000 1,972
Repayment to a director mB—%EFEERE (1,236) -
Proceeds from issue of new shares BTN ZFTi8RI8 56,727 -
Share issuing expenses RnEE1THX (1,350) =
Repayment of margin loan from BERLITREERZER

securities broker - (515)
Net cash generated from MEEBEE RT3

financing activities 54,941 1,255
Net increase/(decrease) in cash HeERREEEEEEM

and cash equivalents GRE2L) $E8 4,404 (525)
Cash and cash equivalents atthe RiRHHIMZHAERREEE

beginning of the reporting period I5H 1,595 2,120
Cash and cash equivalents atthe WMHREHKRZHAERREEE

end of the reporting period IEH 5,999 1,595
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE — T _NFE+ "B =+—HILtFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Walnut Capital Limited (the “Company”) is a public
limited company incorporated in the Cayman Islands
and continued in Bermuda as an exempted company
with limited liability and its shares are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
The address of the Company’s registered office and
principal place of business are disclosed in the “Corporate
Information” section to the annual report.

The Company’s ultimate holding company is China
Lead Investment Holdings Limited, a limited company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”) and
its ultimate controlling party is Mr. Mung Bun Man Alan, a
director of the Company.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollar (“HK$”), which is also the functional
currency of the Company and all values are rounded to the
nearest thousand (HK$'000) except otherwise indicated.

The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) are investment
in listed and unlisted equity and debt securities, unlisted
investment funds and cryptocurrencies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kR G M B|RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE —ZE " UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

Amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards that are mandatorily effective for
the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA”) for the first time, which are mandatorily effective
for the annual periods beginning on 1 January 2024 for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

2.

ERERMBHREER T ER
RS

REFERFERZERRBRS
EAGEAETE

RAEFEE AEBCEXRERHEES
steing (EREHMAT)) BT
NNEEBMBHRESER G EIET A
HR ZZ-NFE—-—F—BaEzBRAEN
FERBRFEY UGEHRESHBR
e

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and SRV BEREEL ERHELHEESE
Leaseback F16RIEET A
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as ERFHENFIR BEIEARDY
Current or Non-current and CEIE:N FERBMESD
related amendments to ZTESESTE
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (CE-ZH)
(2020) HAERMEST
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with EBFIEANFEIE  NERHEN
Covenants BT FERBAE
Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier Finance ERIHERFETSR  HEERETH
and HKFRS 7 Arrangements REBTBRE
ZRIETRIET A

The application of the amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards in the current year has had no material impact
on the Group’s financial positions and performance for the
current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in
these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE —E " UF+_F=+—HIEFE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

(CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards that have
been issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to
HKFRS 9 and
HKFRS 7

Amendments to
HKFRS 9 and
HKFRS 7

Amendments to
HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

Amendments to
HKFRS Accounting
Standards

Amendments to HK -
Interpretation 5

Amendments to

HKAS 21 and HKFRS 1

HKFRS 18

Amendments to the
Classification and
Measurement of Financial
Instruments®

Contracts Referencing
Nature-dependent
Electricity®

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture’

Annual Improvements to
HKFRS Accounting
Standards — Volume 113

Presentation of Financial
Statements — Classification
by the Borrower of a Term
Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand
Clause*

Lack of Exchangeability?

Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements*
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE —ZE " UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
(CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards in issue but not yet effective
(Continued)

U Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2025.

< Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2026.

= Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2027.

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements, which sets out requirements on presentation
and disclosures in financial statements, will replace HKAS
1 Presentation of Financial Statements. This new HKFRS
Accounting Standard, while carrying forward many of the
requirements in HKAS 1, introduces new requirements
to present specified categories and defined subtotals in
the statement of profit or loss; provide disclosures on
management-defined performance measures in the notes
to the financial statements and improve aggregation and
disaggregation of information to be disclosed in the financial
statements. In addition, some HKAS 1 paragraphs have
been moved to HKAS 8 and HKFRS 7. Minor amendments
to HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows and HKAS 33
Earnings per Share are also made.

HKFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will be
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2027, with early application permitted. The application of
the new standard is expected to affect the presentation
of the statement of profit or loss and disclosures in the
future financial statements. The Group is in the process of
assessing the detailed impact of HKFRS 18 on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE —E " UF+_F=+—HIEFE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
(CONTINUED)

The directors anticipate that the application of all other
new and amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards
will have no material impact on the consolidated financial

statements in the foreseeable future.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

3.1 Basis of preparation of the consolidated

financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRS Accounting
Standards issued by the HKICPA. For the purpose of
preparation of the consolidated financial statements,
information is considered material if such information
is reasonably expected to influence decisions made
by primary users. In addition, the consolidated
financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on the Stock
Exchange and by the disclosure requirement of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The directors have, at the time of approving the
consolidated financial statements, a reasonable
expectation that the Group has adequate resources to
continue in operational existence for the foreseeable
future. Thus they continue to adopt the going concern
basis of accounting in preparing the consolidated
financial statements.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.1 Basis of preparation of the consolidated

financial statements (Continued)

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain
financial instruments that are measured at fair values
at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the

accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of
the consideration given in exchange for goods and

services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price
is directly observable or estimated using another

valuation technique.

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair
value and a valuation technique that unobservable
inputs are to be used to measure fair value in
subsequent periods, the valuation technique is
calibrated so that at initial recognition the results of the

valuation technique equals the transaction price.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE —ZE " UFE+_F=+—HIEFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE —E " UF+_F=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. BEMBEHRRENBEEREAD
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STEERER (&)

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies 3.2 EXGETHE

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries.

Control is achieved when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its
returns.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when
the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired
or disposed of during the year are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group
gains control until the date when the Group ceases to
control the subsidiary.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kR G M B|RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE —ZE " UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. BAMBERRENEBEREXRT
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STEERER (&)
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 EXEEE @

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When necessary, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies in line with the Group’s accounting
policies.

Interests in subsidiaries

In the Company'’s statement of financial position,
interests in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
impairment loss, if any. The results of subsidiaries
are accounted for by the Company on the basis of

EHEE (5)
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FHE UEHEHEERALE
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dividend received and receivable.

Foreign currencies b/

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of EBEEABEREKEEEMHRE

monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary EXzERSERERELABARIE
m P RE R

items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE —E " UF+_F=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. BAMBERRENEBEREXRT
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STEERER (&)
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 EXGHEBER #)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost
less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost
of assets less their residual values over their useful
lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated
useful lives, residual values and depreciation method
are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with
the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on
a prospective basis.

The principal annual rates are as follows:

Leasehold improvement Over the lease term
Office equipment 20%
Motor vehicles 20%

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising
on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE —ZE " UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are
acquired separately are carried at cost less any
subsequent accumulated impairment losses.
Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised

when a group entity becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE —E " UF+_F=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. BAMBERRENEBEREXRT
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STEERER (&)
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 EXGHEBER #)

Financial instruments (Continued)

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset
or financial liability and of allocating interest income
and interest expense over the relevant period.
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) through the expected life of the financial
asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.

Interest and dividend income which are derived from
the Group’s ordinary course of business are presented
as revenue.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business
model whose obijective is to collect contractual
cash flows; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE —ZE " UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continueqd)

All other financial assets are subsequently measured
at fair value through profit or loss (‘FVTPL”).

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

° it has been acquired principally for the purpose
of selling in the near term; or

° on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual
pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

° it is a derivative that is not designated and
effective as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate
a financial asset that is required to be measured
at the amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) as measured at
FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces
an accounting mismatch.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE —E " UF+_F=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the
gross carrying amount of a financial asset.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated

as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

This category includes equity securities and debt
securities which the Group had not irrevocably elected
to classify at FVTOCI. Dividends on equity investments
classified as financial assets at FVTPL are recognised
as revenue in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income when the right
of payment has been established, it is probable that
the economic benefits associated with the dividend
will flow to the Group and the amount of the dividend

can be measured reliably.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value
at the end of each reporting period, with any fair value
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net
gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any
dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and
is included in the “gain/(loss) arising in change in fair
value of financial assets at fair value through profit or

loss, net” line item.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE —E " UF+_F=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

3. REMBRRERNEBERERD
stEUREH ()

(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 EXGHEBER #)
Financial instruments (Continued) B#TH ()
Financial assets (Continued) HBEE (&

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment

assessment under HKFRS 9

ZRNEBMHBREERFTRET
REFHEZ M BEERE

AEEMYBHEE (BFEEMER
RO BN RERIRITHER) RIETHE
HEEER (RAEERESHE) RN
ETREN G - NEREHREE
HEEBEESEETEN UK
BYRESSEZ EERARES -

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (‘ECL”) model on financial assets
(including other receivables, deposits paid and bank
balances). The amount of ECL is updated at the end
of each reporting period to reflect changes in credit
risk since initial recognition.
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Az s EETRE

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life
of the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month
(“12m”) ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the end of reporting
period. Assessment are done based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current
conditions during the reporting period as well as the
forecast of future conditions.
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For all instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, in which case the Group recognises
lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime
ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring

since initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE —ZE " UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting period with the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE —E " UF+_F=+—HIEFE

3. REMBRRERNEBERERD
stEUREH ()

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 EXGHEBER #)
Financial instruments (Continued) B#TH ()
Financial assets (Continued) HBEE (&

ZRNEBMHBREERFTRET
REHEZ M BEERE (B

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued) EERBAIEILN &)

EHR EREEHARRTEAR
OB 4% U TR

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit default
swap prices for the debtor;

existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a significant decrease in
the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor;

an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE —ZE " UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information
that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE —E " UF+_F=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when information
developed internally or obtained from external sources
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full.

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kR G M B|RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE —ZE " UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have
occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

@)

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider;

it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE —E " UF+_F=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. BAMBERRENEBEREXRT
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STEERER (&)
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 EXGHEBER #)
Financial instruments (Continued) B#TH ()
Financial assets (Continued) HBEE (&

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery. Financial assets written off may
still be subject to enforcement activities under the
Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account
legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes
a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the
exposure at default. The assessment of the probability
of default and loss given default is based on historical
data and forward-looking information. Estimation of
ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted
amount that is determined with the respective risks of
default occurring as the weights.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE —ZE " UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised cost
of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in

profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amounts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE —E " UF+_F=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

3. REMBBRRERNEBERERD
stEREH (@)

3.2 EXgGHEK &)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Foreign exchange gains and losses

The carrying amount of financial assets that are
denominated in a foreign currency is determined in
that foreign currency and translated at the spot rate at
the end of each reporting period. Specifically:

° For financial assets measured at amortised
cost that are not part of a designated hedging
relationship, exchange differences are
recognised in profit or loss in the “administrative
expenses and other operating expenses” line
item as part of the net foreign exchange loss;

° For financial assets measured at FVTPL that are
not part of a designated hedging relationship,
exchange differences are recognised in profit or
loss as part of the “gain/(loss) arising on changes
in fair value of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss, net”.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kR G M B|RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE —ZE " UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. BAMBERRENEBEREXRT
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STEERER (&)
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangements and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments
issued by the Group are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including accruals and other
payables, amount due to a director and other financial
liability - non-convertible bond) are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method.

Derecognition and modification of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised
in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE —E " UF+_F=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. BEMBEHRRENBEEREAD
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STEERER (&)
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 EXGBE (8B

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Derecognition and modification of financial liabilities
(Continued)

When the contractual terms of a financial liability
are modified, the Group assess whether the revised
terms result in a substantial modification from
original terms taking into account all relevant facts
and circumstances including qualitative factors. If
qualitative assessment is not conclusive, the Group
considers that the terms are substantially different
if the discounted present value of the cash flows
under the new terms, including any fees paid net
of any fees received, and discounted using the
original effective interest rate, is at least 10 per cent
different from the discounted present value of the
remaining cash flows of the original financial liability.
Accordingly, such maodification of terms is accounted
for as an extinguishment, any costs or fees incurred
are recognised as part of the gain or loss on the
extinguishment. The exchange or modification is
considered as non-substantial modification when
such difference is less than 10 per cent.

For non-substantial modifications of financial
liabilities that do not result in derecognition, the
carrying amount of the relevant financial liabilities will
be calculated at the present value of the modified
contractual cash flows discounted at the financial
liabilities” original effective interest rate. Transaction
costs or fees incurred are adjusted to the carrying
amount of the modified financial liabilities and are
amortised over the remaining term. Any adjustment
to the carrying amount of the financial liability is
recognised in profit or loss at the date of modification.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE —ZE " UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Leases
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The Group assess whether a contract is or contains
a lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at
inception of the contract. Such contract will not be
reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the
contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee
Short-term leases
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition

exemption to leases of offices that have a lease
term of 12 months or less from the commencement
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE —E " UF+_F=+—HIEFE

3. REMBRRERNEBERERD
stEUREH ()

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 EXEEE @

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of its property, plant
and equipment to determine whether there is
any indication that those assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated
in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss
(if any). Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are
tested for impairment at least annually, and whenever
there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
(the “CGU”) to which the asset belongs.

In testing a CGU for impairment, corporate assets
are allocated to the relevant CGU when a reasonable
and consistent basis of allocation can be established,
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group
of CGUs for which a reasonable and consistent
allocation basis can be established. The recoverable
amount is determined for the CGU or group of
CGUs to which the corporate asset belongs, and is
compared with the carrying amount of the relevant
CGU or group of CGUs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE —ZE " UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets (Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the asset (or a CGU)
for which the estimates of future cash flows have not
been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a CGU) is reduced to
its recoverable amount.

Cryptocurrencies

Cryptocurrencies, a form of crypto assets, with
all the characteristics that (i) it is a digital or virtual
currency recorded on a distributed ledger that uses
cryptography for security; (i) it is not issued by a
jurisdictional authority or other party; and (iii) it does
not give rise to a contract between the holder and
another party.

Cryptocurrencies is considered to have indefinite

useful lives and are carried at cost less any
subsequent accumulated impairment losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE —E " UF+_F=+—HIEFE

3. REMBRRERNEBERERD
stEUREH ()

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 EXEEE @

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Cryptocurrencies (Continued)

Cryptocurrencies is derecognised on disposal, or
when no future economic benefits are expected
from use or disposal. Gain or loss arising from
derecognition of cryptocurrencies, measured as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the assets, are recognised in profit
or loss when the assets are derecognised.
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Cryptocurrencies is tested for impairment at least nNEE8es  EFRNRENRE
annually, and whenever there is an indication that A REH IR B ERETRER R -

they may be impaired. The recoverable amount
of cryptocurrencies is estimated individually and
is determined using its fair value less costs of
disposal. The fair value of the cryptocurrencies
is determined based on the quoted price on the
applicable exchange. If the recoverable amount of a
cryptocurrency is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced
to its recoverable amount and an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss. Where an
impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kR G M B|RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE —ZE " UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

3. REMBBRRERNEBERERD
stEREH (@)

3.2 EXgGHEK &)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the current
and deferred tax expense.

Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit
for the year. Taxable profit differs from “profit/(loss)
before income tax” as reported in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income because of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which those deductible temporary differences can be
utilised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE —E " UF+_F=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. BEMBEHRRENBEEREAD
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STEERER (&)

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 EXGHEBR &)
Taxation (Continued) #1E (B)
Current and deferred tax for the year FERIE R AR IE

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or
loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the
consolidated statement of financial position include
cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand
deposits, excluding bank balances that are subject to
regulatory restrictions that result in such balances no
longer meeting the definition of cash.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash
and cash equivalents as defined above.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kR G M B|RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE —ZE " UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3. REMBRRERNEBERERD
stEUREH ()

3.2 EXEFHE #

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Employee benefits
Short-term and other long-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be
paid as and when employees rendered the services.
All short-term employee benefits are recognised as an
expense.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to after
deducting any amount already paid.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term
employee benefits are measured at the present value
of the estimated future cash outflows expected to be
made by the Group in respect of services provided by
employees up to the reporting date. Any changes in
the liabilities” carrying amounts resulting from service
cost, interest and remeasurements are recognised in
profit or loss except to the extent that another HKFRS
Accounting Standards requires or permits their
inclusion in the cost of an asset.

Retirement benefit obligations

Payments to Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) are recognised as an expense when
employees have rendered service entitling them to the
contributions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE —E " UF+_F=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. BAMBERRENEBEREXRT
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STEERER (&)
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 EXGEEE (8B)
Employee benefits (Continued) ESEF (48)
Retirement benefit obligations (Continued) BUKEFIEF (&

FEBRBEREELEESHENFRD
B EBEER —ERE HRR
BEFFEMHM - BEAB S EIR
Al MR EEEBIMAZERE
BOLEE TREFXMEEE
mAR-REEF A EERAE
EEES R TH—EBIESER
EHRA FEEMBREE B FH
BEIMRE HRAEHEETE
E-REREEE BERERE
EXEAREERBAWAZS%E
iR E st R MmE A AR A
EPR730,0008 7t ° st & 5t & 1#

The Group contributes to a defined contribution
MPF Scheme under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme Ordinance for all employees in Hong Kong.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ relevant income and are charged to profit
or loss as they become payable in accordance with
the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group
in an independently administered fund. The Group’s
employer contributions vest fully with the employees
when contributed in the MPF Scheme. Under the MPF
Scheme, the employer and its employees are each
required to make contribution to the MPF Scheme

at 5% of the employees’ relevant income subject FRENBEER & o
to a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000.

Contributions to the MPF Scheme vest immediately.

Borrowing costs BB

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in

the period in which they are incurred.

FTERERAREEEHBARIE
mHPHESD
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kR G M B|RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE —ZE " UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

3. REMBRRERNEBERERD
stEUREH ()

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 EAEHEE @
PHERE

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each CENHEREREMBRERMEZ®B
o)

&
segment item reported in the consolidated financial ENEBEBETRE DNHIREAMASE

statements, are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to the Group’s most
senior executive management for the purposes
of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business
and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and
are similar in respect of the nature of products and
services, the nature of production processes, the type

H & IEER R & FEIRDE KT
HMEREMERAEERRSITH
EERBRMHEZMBERHER

MMBHREMS BENERZLE
DEAEREAR BRIEZFNE
ZEBER BRI BEER KRR
ME-EEIFHEE - FREREL
g~ DM E MR HARFIAZ

FEREEREHEE S EES
Fo-MBEHEMKRE DT E > @5
RERZEEDERE AR

or class of customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and the nature
of the regulatory environment. Operating segments
which are not individually material may be aggregated
if they share a majority of these criteria.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE _Z _UE+_F=+—HILEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Related party

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@)

A person, or a close member of that person’s
family, is related to the Group if that person:

U)

(i

)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group’s
parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

U)

(i

(i)

The entity and the Group are members of
the same group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is
related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which
the other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

SEMBRREREBERERT
stERER (@)

3.2 EXGHBE 4B
FIEAL

ETHBERT BRALHRESHA
rERERFE

(@ MWEBUTAL Bz AL
ZaANT AR ERERFRH
i

() HEEBAESEIH
[EIHE I ;

(i) HEEEBEEREES;
Y

iy AEAEBXLAERFTA
BIZ2FEEEAE-

(o) fHfTE FIMEREMS BIHE
REXERARE

ZEREFERER —
EEZRERE A&
NSRS PNSIDSAE BN
BABRIERRE -

(i)

ERAS BB
NEHEERE (F
"B Z2HEREZ
SEaEhEm
ERAZEBET

(i

pula)

wmqumbmm

E\I
o

MHM$|MW

g a0 F o F

(i)

L=
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kR G M B|RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE —ZE " UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Related party (Continued)

®)

(Continued)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viil)

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of either
the Group or an entity related to the
Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)()) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member
of the key management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence, or
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the
entity.

A transaction is considered to be a related party
transaction when there is a transfer of resources or
obligations between related parties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE —E " UF+_F=+—HIEFE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s material accounting
policies, which are described in note 3 to the consolidated
financial statements, the directors are required to make
judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and underlying
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results
may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

The following is the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end
of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Fair value measurement of financial
instruments under level 3 fair value hierarchy

Certain of the Group’s financial instruments under
level 3 fair value hierarchy amounting to approximately
HK$47,093,000 (2023: HK$20,922,000) as at 31
December 2024 are measured at fair values with fair values
being determined based on significant unobserved inputs
using valuation techniques. Judgment and estimation are
required in establishing the relevant valuation techniques
and the relevant inputs thereof. Changes in assumptions
relating to these factors could affect the reported fair
values of these instruments. See notes 19 and 31 to the
consolidated financial statements for further disclosures.

At FRERRZ T EERR

RERAEEZERESHEER ERGRS
B RRMEINEA) K> EFAFD
ERAREREMKREEZERZEEK
BREREEZ A G5t RRKR G5 K
HERRHERNBELRRKNEAE R
ZHMAR - BRERTEFRANZE
flist o

At RERRKRDEFELEEEET
WEt o M EEH a2 BT ER E(E5E
] Z M Bl et (st 2 BT ek i
BIA T LURESE » B EE] R EIRFF R
AR > B & SHE 5T Z BT RERT R
AR AT LARESR -

UTRRBREMREBAREZEARRR
REstAEERNZZEMEERF B
FRRRREREAEENEEREBZIK
HER T -—MBRFEFERFHAREHEEZ
BREMR-

BERNFERBRIETHHIAZ
AT(EHE

rEBEFR _E-_WNE+-A=+—
H{E{E#47,093,0008 T (2=
20,922,000 70) WHE =M R FERE KA
THEIABEAFEAE AFELIR
BEATTERE A ZIERGH G ERI
ET -AMBTEEBAGERMNAEERE
WABBEHAE G - BEZERER
EFNBREFNETEZZFTANE
BRRAFE - E—FPWEFLEGEH
BIRRMIEE19/%31 0
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE_Z _NFE+_HB=+—HILEE

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the executive directors of the
Company, being the chief operating decision maker (the
“CODM”), for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment.

The Group has one reportable segment for both years
which is investment in listed and unlisted equity and debt
securities, unlisted investment funds and cryptocurrencies.
The reportable segments are based on the information
about the operations of the Group that management uses
to make decisions. The Group’s reportable segment is
strategic business units that operate different activities.
They are managed separately because each business
has different markets and requires different marketing
strategies. Thereafter, the CODM considered the Group has
only one reportable and operating segment under HKFRS
8 Operating Segments, thus no segment information is
presented.

The Company’s place of domicile is in Hong Kong which is
determined based on the location of central management
and the Group’s revenue is mainly derived in Hong Kong
and all non-current assets are located in Hong Kong for
both years.

SEEE

ERTAERTITES HARSKEER
wE ((RREEREE))) 2EMTBF
BERDEARBETFLRAR-

rEBRMEFEHNE —EN28D
WoAMREN EHRIFLETRERER
BHE FLTREEERNMEGE-AJ2
BOMBEREEBRAUFHRRZAE
EEEEEHN - TxEEZAZ28RDES
KEAAEBZREEEFEMA AR
BEFEBEARTH L AXRBRAFREH
R FEAERDFAEENERDE -
H EelERREIDBRESEN
BREENESRALZE S XEEER
— BRI 2R KEEEDE AL E2 75
DERE K

KRBZAEMBER HIREFRE
BEfMEMEBE MAEERMEEE
ZWHEETBERNEBELAMABFERIE
EPARER -

REVENUE 1§
2024 2023
—E-mE —EC=F
HK$’°000 HK$’000
F#ET FHIT
Dividend income g E WA 139 164
Interest income F) 2 WA 400 1
539 165
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE —E _UF+_F=+—HIEFE

OTHER INCOME 7. Hitgzs
2024 2023
—E-NE TECI=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FE7T
Gain on disposal of property, HEYZE -BEK
plant and equipment B2 W 360 -
FINANCE COSTS 8. MIEMZ
2024 2023
—EmE T =F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FE7T
Interest on: FME
Other financial liability HM B a R
- non-convertible bond (note 23) - FA] &g iES (fP5E23) 200 200

Other interest expenses to financial

institutions

TS HthF) SRS
- 2

200 202

PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAX 0.

Profit/(loss) before income tax is arrived at after charging:

Auditors’ remuneration:
— Audit services
e Jon Gepsom CPA Limited

e Elite Partners CPA Limited

— Non-audit services
e Elite Partners CPA Limited

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment

PRFRIGMR AT, (B518)

BREFISIRATEF] (B518) BB T &
15 .

2024 2023
—E-NE —ET=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHIT
ZEEMEN =
- BIZHRTS
o S (BB gsthm
EBRMBERAE 350 =
o TS stED
ERARAT 19 369
- JEBIZIRF
o BHITIEEEEtAm
EXEMBRAE - 24
369 393
MEEREEZINE
67 96
FE R 1835 139 =

Net foreign exchange loss
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kR a MBI RMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE_Z _NFE+_B=+—HILFEE

9. PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAX 9. BRERGMAIEH, (B8 (&)
(CONTINUED)
An analysis of the gain/(loss) arising in change in fair value of FBBERRURATEIIRZMBEER
financial assets at FVTPL, net is as follows: TEEBELEZRE (BB 382D
M
2024 2023
b ol 111 - —EI=HF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FA7T FET
Realised gain/(loss) on disposal of HEFHBIBERRUATE
financial assets at FVTPL FIERZABEEZ
BERINE 7 (5518)
Proceeds from disposal of financial HEHBEE@mRUATE
assets at FVTPL FIERZ BB EZ PR
IR 45,460 15,801
Less: Carrying amounts of financial B BEEBEmRUATE
assets at FVTPL TR BEEZ
fREMAE (43,825) (17,474)
1,635 (1,673)

Unrealised gain/(loss) on financial assets #5818 % R LUA B Bk

at FVTPL ZHBEEZREIR
Wz, (B538) 15,723 (10,359)
17,358 (12,032)
10. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE 10. lEERAIRX
The employee benefit expense, including directors’ EERFMASZ (BREESHFM WT
remuneration is as follows:
2024 2023
o 1 - 3 T =F
HK$’°000 HK$'000
F#Ex FET
Salaries, bonus and other benefits e EAREMEY
in kind @A 11,555 7,580
Retirement benefit scheme contributions B REF] 52 {Hk 137 121
11,692 7,701
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE —E " UF+_F=+—HIEFE

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s
emoluments

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the
year, disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing

. EFREBTHASZEHM

(a)

EFREBITHABZHM

RIBEBR LHRAREBABFG
RERERBZEFTRTEZTHA

Rules and the disclosure requirements of the Hong BZFEEMEWT
Kong Companies Ordinance, is as follows:
Retirement
benefit
Benefits Discretionary scheme
Fee in kind bonus contributions Total
BHKAET
g BEER HiETEL SRR Bt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT FTEx FTERT TERT FTERx
1
For the year ended BE_E-_ME+-A
31 December 2024 =+—HLEEFE
Executive directors: HWITES:
Mr. Mung e - - - - -
Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan SmXEE 3,210 2,535 330 18 6,093
Non-executive FHTES !
directors:
Dr. Ng Kit Chong SEHEL
(resigned on MRZBE_MERA
24 May 2024) —+NEEHMD) - - = = =
Mr. Wang Mingmin FHREE
(appointed on 15 November ~ (RZBZ=%
2023 +—AtHEEZAR
and retired on RZZE-mE
21 June 2024) NEZt+— HED - - - - -
Independent non-executive HIIFHITEE
directors:
Mr. Fung Wai Ching TR 60 = = = 60
Ms. Lui Sau Lin BREYL
(resigned on RZB-RfF
6 February 2025) “RBHEHD 60 - - - 60
Mr. Chung Wang Hei BRERE 60 - - - 60
3,390 2,535 330 18 6,273
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE_Z _NFE+_HB=+—HILEE

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION (CONTINUED)

N EFRFBTHASZEHMH @

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s (a) EBERFEFETHASZHM
emoluments (Continued) 48)
Retirement
benefit
Benefits  Discretionary scheme
Fee in kind bonus  contributions Total
BRIKER
we  BYREN BBTA4 sEER st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TAT AT AT AT
For the year ended BEZZ”_-F+ZRH
31 December 2023 =H—HIEEE
Executive directors: ~ HYTEE :
Mr. Mung Edid - - - - =
Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan @344 2,080 2536 - 18 4,634
Non-executive FRTES:
directors:
Dr. Ng Kit Chong AL
(resigned on (RZZEZMERA
24 May 2024) AT - - = = =
Mr. Wang Mingmin THREE
(appointed on 15 MZBE_=F
November 2023 +—EB+LREZE
and retired on KRR ZEZmE
21 June 2024) ANEZ+—HED = - - - -
Independent non- BUERITES:
executive directors:
Mr. Fung Wai Ching ISHEERE 60 - - - 60
Ms. Lui Sau Lin EEELt
(resigned on (RZEZHE
6 February 2025) —RB/ HEHME) 60 - - - 60
Mr. Chung Wang Hel BRERE 60 - - - 60
2,260 2536 - 18 4,814

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above
were for their services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Company and the
Group.

The non-executive directors’ and the independent
non-executive directors’ emoluments shown
above were for their services as the directors of the

Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE —E " UF+_F=+—HIEFE

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION (CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

Directors’ and chief executive’s
emoluments (Continued)

The Group has been providing accommodation
reimbursement of approximately HK$2,535,000
(2023: HK$2,536,000), to Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan for
use by him and his family members.

Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan is entitled to bonus payment
which are determined based on his monthly director’s
fee.

Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan is also the chief executive
officer of the Company and his emoluments disclosed
above include those for service rendered by him as the
chief executive officer.

There was no arrangement under which a director
or the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration for both years.

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the
directors as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office for both
years.

Transactions, arrangements or contracts
in which directors have material interests

Mr. Mung and Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan, are also
the directors of Global Mastermind Holdings Limited
(“GMHL”) as at and for the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023.

N EFRFBTHASZEHMH @

(a)

(b)

Y B

BEFERIEETHASZEHM
(4&)
AEEB—BHERXmXTERMEE
TBE AIRIEAY2,535,0008 7T (&
— =4 2,536,000/ 7T) > MU &
HZRXBHEA-

EmXEEREREARESBRES
BEEEMTCL -

XmXAETBERB Z TR
REXFRBEERBEZHNEEER
BETHESREHERTZ ZME -

RWEFE MEEENEETH
A B PR UL R 3[R B R A A A
B2 ZHEe

RMEFE xEETERAEES
TERMAEE R 2 5 Eh = S0 BE R

REZHES-

EERE AR &
NS4

PRI _MFER_ZT-_=F+_A8
=t+—HUERBEZMBE LLFE>
EhEREmXTETRRGlobal
Mastermind Holdings LimitedI® 3k A
BEEARAE (NMREKKE)) 2
==
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kR G M B|RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE —ZE " UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION (CONTINUED)

N EFRFBTHASZEHMH @

(b) EFHBFEARHZRF

(b) Transactions, arrangements or contracts

in which directors have material interests
(Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2024,
the Company paid lease payment of nil (2023:
HK$620,000) and HK$840,000 (2023: HK$840,000)
in relation to the rental agreement entered into with
Hope Master Investments Limited and Famous
Flamingo Limited, indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries
of GMHL.

On 19 December 2023, the Group completed to
dispose certain unlisted equity securities to Mr. Mung
Bun Man, Alan with an aggregate consideration of
HK$1,736,000 which was settled by the loan from
Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan.

Saved as disclosed above, no other transactions,
arrangements or contracts in which the Company
or any subsidiaries of the Company was a party and
in which a director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the
end of the year or at any time during the year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE —_ T _NFE+_"B=+—HItFE

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 1. EBERFETHAS ZHE 43

REMUNERATION (CONTINUED)

(c) Five highest paid individuals (c) AaEREiHMAL

The five highest paid employees of the Group during
the year included 1 (2023: 1) director, details of whose
remuneration are set out in note 11(a) above. Details
of the remuneration for the year of the remaining 4
(2023: 4) highest paid employees who are neither a
director nor chief executive of the Company are as
follows:

FROAEERBRARBHFMALTE
E—5RCEI=F . —RESH
LM BEN EXMIEE11(a)e
FRNBHTEGR (T2 T=F: HA)
TEBEARNREETRFETHRAR
zEReFNEE ZFHMEFBNT

2024 2023
—EME BT =F
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FET AT

Salaries, bonus and other

# AL R H At B BT

benefits in kind 3,926 1,953

Retirement benefit scheme RIRfEN FHEHRR
contributions 52 57
3,978 2,010

No emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the
five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join
or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss
of office for both years.

The number of the highest paid employees who are
not the directors of the Company whose remuneration

FEEBXMEFETEA LIRS
FMA L2 ER—RBALZGER
MAXREEZ RBITHEREEZ
BEE-

WIFBARBESEBEHFE A F U
THAlzREHMEEABIT

fell within the following bands is as follows:

Number of staff

BIAY

2024 2023

kol 111 - TS

Nil to HK$1,000,000 ZZ1,000,00078 7T 2 3
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7T =

1,500,000 75 1 1

Over HK$1,500,000 1,500,00078 7t 4 £ 1 -

4 4
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE_Z _NFE+_HB=+—HILEE

12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

12.

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2
million of profits of the qualifying group entity are taxed at
8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million are taxed at 16.5%.
The profits of group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered
profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate
of 16.5%.

The directors considered the amount involved upon
implementation of the two-tiered profits tax rates regime as
insignificant to the consolidated financial statements. Hong
Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated
assessable profit for both years.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made
as the Group incurred estimated tax losses or the taxable
profits was wholly absorbed by estimated tax losses
brought forward from prior years.

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled
to the profit/(loss) before income tax per the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
as follows:

FRiSTRRE

BREBEFEEMES  cERERER
B E 2,000,000 7519 & #3%8.25%
 » M8 82,000,000 7t B i@ F Bl 2B 3%
16.5% M - ARG HBRMAFINER
ERENBHBEIL16.5%METERRE
Mo

EETA BHEANSHEMARTIPTT RN
THEBGEMBERRMELEAEKR T
BRERERMEFEGTERREF
Z 16.5%5t & o

AR AEEEE G RBEGRHERR
BN ESRBETFELEE G5 RNEE
BT M EEHRE BN ERER-

meBEmkEMEER@REEMER
FZ R ERPRISMATER, (B518) B #ER
mE

2024 2023
—E-NE _EC=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FETT

Profit/(loss) before income tax

BREFSHIATRF, (B518) 399 (25,294)

Tax calculated at the rates applicable to  RIEIEREIR S B A & H A

the tax jurisdictions concerned ZMEHBEZIRIE 66 (4,174)
Expenses not deductible for eI

tax purposes 1,397 1,995
Income not taxable for tax purposes BEZHRUIA (4,325) (7)
Estimated tax losses not recognised RIER 2 EFTRIERE 2,862 2,206
Income tax expense Frigfifsz - =
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12.

13.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE — T _NFE+ "B =+—HILtFE

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had unused
estimated tax losses of approximately HK$555,929,000
(2023: HK$538,582,000) available for offset against future
profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in
respect of tax losses due to the unpredictability of future
profit streams and unrecognised tax losses could be carried
forward indefinitely.

EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE

The computations of basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per
share attributable to owners of the Company are based on
the following data:

12.

FRiSIRAX ()

RIREEAR » A EEE 555,929,000
7T (ZE =4 : 538,582,000 7T) K&
Bt RIEE R o] BIEIRE R KGR
HRRETEt BB BRI R R RAERZ
MIEEBETERBES I ERRIE
BREBRRERIBEEE

skRERN (518

EABEAANBEERELARBER
A/ (BB18) 2 stEHER T SBMEL

2024 2023
“EmE —EBT=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT FBIT
Earnings/(loss) BH 7 (5518)
Earnings/(loss) for the purpose of basic A st EEREAS L #5E
and diluted earnings/(loss) per share BH, (B8 28H,
(profit/(loss) for the year attributable to ~ (8518) (FABHEE A
owners of the Company) EILEE R, (B518)) 399 (25,294)
2024 2023
“EmE —EBT=F
’000 000
TFhg T
(restated)
(& E5)
]
Number of shares K& A
Weighted average number of ordinary ~ UG EEIRE AR K #5H
shares for the purpose of basic and BA, (B518) 2 ZER
diluted earnings/(loss) per share IR I98 937,621 776,898

The weighted average number of ordinary shares for
the year ended 31 December 2023 for the purposes of
calculating basic and diluted loss per share have been
adjusted for the issue of new shares by way of rights issue
which took place on 30 May 2024.

No diluted earnings/(loss) per share was presented as there
was no potential ordinary shares in issue for both years. The
basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share are the same for

both years.

BE_E_=—F+"_H=+—HLEE
AU ESREARBEBRZEER
MEFHHEMBEAR _Z_WNFHA
Z+HETEHRN S AETHRG TU

Hﬁﬂzo

RWMEFE ARTEEETEETSE
ot m2rsRBEERT, (B8 -
MEFEZEREARBERAN (B
18) EE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE_Z _NFE+_HB=+—HILEE

14. DIVIDEND

No dividend was paid, declared or proposed during the year
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, nor has any dividend
been proposed by the board of directors subsequent to the
end of the reporting periods.

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

14. g2

BE_ T _WNEAR_E_=ZF£+_A1
=+ —HIEEFEE EFEUTESZNT Tk
FEZZNEAKRE BRRERERE
INERZL(EMRE -

15. Y1 - BER=HE

Leasehold Motor Office
improvement vehicles equipment Total
HE%E RE MAZRE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TR TR TR
Cost 773
As at 1 January 2023 RZE-_=%—HA—H 3,378 3,168 695 7,241
Written off 62 (2,047) - - (2,047)
As at 31 December 2023 and RIZEZ=F+"B=+—-HK
as at 1 January 2024 “_Z_mE-B—H 1,331 3,168 695 5,194
Additions hE — — 8 8
Disposal during the year FRHE = (1,517) = (1,517)
As at 31 December 2024 RIZE-_MFE+"B=+—H 1,331 1,651 703 3,685
Accumulated depreciation ZEHFE
As at 1 January 2023 RZB2_=5—HF—H 3,359 3,168 525 7,052
Charge for the year FETH 12 - 84 %
Written off b i (2,047) - - (2,047)
As at 31 December 2023 and RZEZ=F+"A=1+—HK
as at 1 January 2024 “ZmE-A—H 1,324 3,168 609 5,101
Charge for the year FESZH 7 - 60 67
Disposal during the year FRHE - (1517) - (1517)
As at 31 December 2024 RIZZME+"F=1+—H 1,331 1,651 669 3,651
Carrying amounts IREE
As at 31 December 2024 RZZ2_MmE+-A=+-H - - 34 34
As at 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F+"A=+—H 7 - 86 93
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15.

16.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE — T _NFE+ "B =+—HILtFE

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONTINUED)

Leasehold improvement, motor vehicles and office
equipment with cost of approximately HK$1,331,000
(2023: HK$1,324,000), HK$1,651,000 (20283:
HK$3,168,000) and HK$669,000 (2023: HK$609,000)
were fully depreciated and still in use as at 31 December

15. ¥ -BERSHE (B)

AZEME+ZB=+—H > &
#7241,331,0008 0 (Z &=

1,324,000 7T) ~ 1,651,000 71 (Z=
— =4 13,168,000 7T) K&669,0007 T
(ZE =% :609,000/87T) 2HEH®

2024. BNARBERMAEREBEEE2HITE BN
EERF-
SHORT-TERM LEASES 16. sEHRTRE

2024 2023

b ol 111 - —EBI=HF

HK$’000 HK$’000

F#ERT THIT

Expense relating to short-term leases ~ ELfGHATHE AR 2B 1,100 1,460

Total cash outflow for leases HEZRS M E48%8 1,100 1,460
The Group leases of offices and motor vehicle for its AEBRAHEEFHEHER A AERAE

operations with lease contracts under fixed term of 1 year or
less (2023: 1 year).

The Group entered into short-term leases for office during
the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023. As at 31
December 2024, the outstanding lease commitments
relating to short-term leases is approximately HK$662,000
(2023: HK$662,000).

BEEANABEHRIEEHUT (CE =
= b= I

BE_Z_NERZZE-_=+TAH
S+ HEFE AEBERMA=ES
YTREHPHAE-REWOE+A
—+—R - EREHEAERKEERE
AL 662,000 T (ZCE_=F !
662,000 7T) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE_Z _NFE+_HB=+—HILEE

17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS . EBEEE
Club memberships g
HK$'000
FHEIT
Cost s
As at 1 January 2023, RZEZ=F—H—H-
as at 31 December 2023, A _E_=F+"HA=+—H-
as at 1 January 2024 and A TEWFE—HA—HRK
as at 31 December 2024 —ETNE+_"_H=+—H 7,135
Carrying amounts IREE
As at 31 December 2024 and 2023 M_-_E_MNER-_ZFT-_=5+-A=+—H 7,135

The Group holds life-time memberships with non-
refundable membership fee which are freely transferrable.
In the opinion of the directors, the club memberships are
capable of being renewed indefinitely at insignificant cost
and therefore is perpetual in duration.

The Group performed impairment test for the intangible
assets by comparing its recoverable amounts to the
carrying amounts at the end of the reporting period in
accordance with HKAS 36. The recoverable amounts of the
intangible assets are determined based on fair value less
cost of disposal. The fair value was determined based on
level 2 hierarchy using market approach with reference to
quoted market prices. Accordingly, the directors considered
that no impairment loss was recognised for both years.

Walnut Capital Limited | Annual Report 2024
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18.

19.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE —E " UF+_F=+—HIEFE

CRYPTOCURRENCIES 18. MMBE
2024 2023
—E-ZME —E=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#T FHT

Cryptocurrencies held on exchange XX H BB MBS

institutions 41,012 —
Represented by: 5
Tether (‘USDT”) ez (TUSDT J) 41,012 =
The Group performed impairment assessment test for AEBERINE & & ETRE TG R = 1
cryptocurrencies and estimated the recoverable amounts RIBEAFERHE A (BT RER
of cryptocurrencies based on fair value less costs of BEEEMIEN2EBRUSERSES
disposal, which are arrived at using available information B G NEEE 2B EEE AT E
for the reference prices in the relevant cryptocurrencies PEEF—HKL2ATEER AAFER
markets. The fair values were categorised under level 1 EREREEEZREME LRE CRK
fair value hierarchy as their fair values were based on a AE)NNHEK AL EERA > LE
quoted (unadjusted) market price in active markets for RBEEZZENFE+ZA=1+—HIHF
identical assets. Accordingly, the directors considered that EER BRI -
no impairment loss was recognised for the year ended 31
December 2024.
FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 19. BB RULXFEIIRZIHF
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS 5E
2024 2023
o 1 - 3 B
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAw FHET
Listed equity securities: EHRRAEES
— Equity securities listed in Hong -REBZ LR AES
Kong, at fair value BAFEE 35,360 49,821
— Equity securities listed outside -REASNZ A
Hong Kong, at fair value B BRFE - 31
35,360 49,852
Unlisted equity and debt securities JE LR AREHEE 47,093 20,922
Unlisted investment funds FETRERES 2,991 3,054
85,444 73,828
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE —ZE " UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
(CONTINUED)

At the end of the reporting period, financial assets at FVTPL
are stated at fair value.

The fair value of the listed equity securities are determined
based on the quoted market closing prices available on the
relevant stock exchanges at the end of the reporting period.

As at 31 December 2024, the fair value of unlisted equity
securities amounting to approximately HK$36,667,000
(2023: HK$13,128,000), were referenced to the valuation
carried out by a firm of independent professional valuers.
Details of fair value measurement are disclosed in note 31 to
the consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2024, fair value of unlisted debt
securities amounting to approximately HK$10,426,000
(2023: HK$7,794,000), were referenced to the valuation
carried out by a firm of independent professional valuers.
Details of fair value measurement are disclosed in note 31 to
the consolidated financial statements.

The unlisted investment funds are not quoted in an active
market and transactions in such investments do not occur
on a regular basis. The Group used recent market price
or the net asset value as reported by the managers of the
funds attributable to the investments held by the Company
to determine its fair value.

The fair value of the Group’s listed equity securities listed in
Hong Kong at the date of approval of these consolidated
financial statements were approximately HK$35,180,000.
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19. EBRBEHRUAT(EIRZ 1T

BE @)

R|REMR > BB RURAFEYEK
ZHMBEERATERZY-

R|EMR EHRAEZSZZAFET
RIBEBESXZAARZIWTERE

=

iE °

R_EBE_WNE+_-_B=+—H 3k L™
f% A58 H 09 A F(E A 236,667,000 70
(ZZB =4 13,128,000 7T) » &%
BUSXGHEBEMTETHHEER A
FEFEZHBRGRE M BERFRM 31
R EE o

A _E_NE+_"_HBA=+—H'FLEH
BHESNAQATFELNA10,426,0008 7T
(ZZT =4 :7,794,00087T) » 2 &5
UEEMGEMTETHNHBEER -AF
B EZHEBREEHBRRMEFI1H

REE -

FLHREEL U AR FRDH LF
B BRERELREBETRS A%
A AT AR A A A R
EHESEBRENEEFEUEEL
AT

RtEZEFREMBREAE £&
BEAZLTRAZBSZAFEOR
35,180,000 7T ©



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE — T _NFE+ "B =+—HILtFE

20. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 20. RERFAEEHEHEAL
2024 2023
o 1 - 3 “B=5F
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FAT FET
Cash at banks and on hand RTIREKRFHEIEE 5,999 1,595
As at 31 December 2024, the Group has cash and bank RZE2E_NF+_A=+—H &x&E&E
balances of approximately HK$153,000 (2023: HK$54,000) 2% (IEm) sHEZRE RIRTTHERR
denominated in United States Dollar (‘US$”). #973153,0007%8 70 (ZZ T =4 : 54,000
BIT) °
Cash and cash equivalents include demand deposits and ReMReEEEBOEBUEMNR
short term deposits for the purpose of meeting the Group’s EERAREAREZERERREH
short term cash commitments, which carry interest at FR BERERBTERNENZH
floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. MEFR -
For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, BHE_ZT_NERZZEZI=F+IA
the Group performed impairment assessment on bank _+ HIEFE  REBBIRITEGRE
balances and concluded that the probability of defaults TREFGELEHER XZHFET
of the counterparty banks are insignificant because the E’\JL MEEMMARE  RERARZY
counterparties are banks with high credit-ratings assigned FREFEEIREBR TS EET
by international credit ratings agencies and accordingly, no M2 R1T AR EEEBIRE
allowance for credit losses is provided. o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kR a MBI RMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE_Z _NFE+_HB=+—HILEE

21.

22.

23.

ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES 21. FEsHIRI R H thFE T ERER
2024 2023
—E-ME ==
HK$’000 HK$’'000
F#T T T
Accruals FESTER X 3,175 561
Bond interest payable I ESF B 143 143
Other payables HhfE (S BRRR 150 911
3,468 1,615

AMOUNT DUE TO A DIRECTOR

The amount due to Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan was unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.

OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITY - NON-
CONVERTIBLE BOND

The Company issued a non-convertible bond in a principal
amount of HK$10,000,000 (the “Bond”) on 16 April 2014,
the original maturity date is 15 April 2021 (the “Original
Maturity Date”). The Company has an option (the
“Prepayment Option”) to repay the outstanding principal
amount of the Bond at any time before the Original Maturity
Date, but the bondholder shall not redeem the Bond before
the Original Maturity Date.

Walnut Capital Limited | Annual Report 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE — T _NFE+ "B =+—HILtFE

23. OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITY - NON-

CONVERTIBLE BOND (CONTINUED)

The Bond carries interest at the rate of 2% per annum
payable annually in arrears on the last day of each year from
the date of the Bond, provided that the final repayment of
the interest shall be on the Original Maturity Date. However,
for every 10% increase in the net profit in any financial year
during the term of the Bond as compared to the immediate
previous year, the interest rate shall be increased by 1%
for that financial year and with retrospective effect. The
following year’s interest rate will be reset at 2% subject to
adjustment depending on the net profit. The interest rate
during the term shall not be less than 2% per annum and
not more than 6% per annum (the “Cap”). Details of the
Bond were set out in the Company’s announcement date
16 April 2014.

On 16 April 2022, the Company entered into agreement
with the holder of the Bond (the “Bond Holder”) for one
year extension of the maturity date of the Bond to 16 April
2023. On 16 April 2023, the Company entered into another
agreement with the Bond Holder for one year extension of
the maturity date of the Bond to 16 April 2024. On 16 April
2024, the Company entered into another agreement with
the Bond Holder for one year extension of the maturity date
of the Bond to 16 April 2025. Other terms and conditions of
the Bond remain unchanged.

The Prepayment Option and the Cap are regarded as
embedded derivatives in the host contract. The directors
assessed the fair value of the Prepayment Option and the
Cap with reference to the valuation performed by a firm of
independent qualified professional valuers, which assess
the fair values of the Prepayment Option and the Cap by
using the Monte Carlo method and determined that the
fair value of the Prepayment Option and the Cap were
insignificant at the end of the reporting period. Accordingly,
the Prepayment Option and the Cap were not recognised
in the consolidated financial statements as at 31 December
2024 and 2023.

23.

Hithf ¥ 6 @ - FrIERmES
(48)
EHBENK2%H S AN EEEL D

EstEFRE—BOMAXM HEMNEZ
REBEEBRARIEE AT RESS
FHRANZEAFREE  BAS8R L
FIBMI10% > AW BFEZ A RREM
1% BB I FT—FEZF XK ER/M
RIE 2% @ AR RN FLUFE -1
fﬁﬁﬂﬁq HMEXABERBE2RRTREE
tEF6% (TLEMR)) - EHFZFHBHNA
’AEEI,HHZ%_ﬁ—EfEEE—i—f\EIZ@
Ao

i — = 11 P e oA = IR /NS B
BEHFIAHLEE—FEZZE - -FMNA
+ARBEGFFEA (AFHEALD ]
UmZE - RZIEZ=FONEB+/ B =K
NEIEEBESFBATILS —BHE#
EHFHPAHERE—FE T _OFNMA
+ARE - RIZEZWMFEMNA+/H > &R
BEAMBFESINFHLER—FEZE
_EEEH‘F/\EIQTi%Hﬁ/\aTiTm

AR EBRERAETENZBHEANNT
FTR-BEXF2ERUCEREXRMGEE
BT (HERSt R LT LRAMEZA
FERER) ETZGEFGROEZ
NFER LR LEERKRSHREAN
BZATEREBLEFAEXR -RHIL > R
BERERHER - _MER-_T "=
FTRA=+T—HZGEMBRRPE

=
e ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kR a MBI RMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE_Z _NFE+_B=+—HILFEE

23. OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITY - NON- 23. HithBt#Z & E - R ERES

CONVERTIBLE BOND (CONTINUED) (#)
The Bond recognised in the consolidated statements of RAEEZZEHMBRARPEIZE
financial position of the Group is calculated as follows: HFEEWT -
HK$’000
FAET

128

As at 1 January 2023 RZE_=F—H—H 10,000
Interest expense (note 8) MERZ (Wats) 200
Interest paid and payable B RENF]E (200)
As at 31 December 2023 and as at RIE_=F+"B=+—HK

1 January 2024 R-E_E—HF—H 10,000
Interest expense (note 8) MERXZ (Wats) 200
Interest paid and payable B RENF]E (200)
As at 31 December 2024 R-ZE-mE+-HA=+—H 10,000

The effective interest rate of the Bond is 2% (2023: 2%) per

annum.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE —E " UF+_F=+—HIEFE

24. SHARE CAPITAL 24. g%
2024 2023
—EomE ZETTCF
Number of Number of
shares HK$°000 shares HK$'000
Rir%E TR RIAHE TER

25.

Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each ~ BREE001ETZ EER

Authorised: EE
At the beginning/end of the IV

reporting period 100,000,000,000 1,000,000  100,000,000,000 1,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BETRAR:
At the beginning of the RREH

reporting period 700,333,925 7,003 700,333,925 7,003
Issue of new shares by way DUt A R TR

of rights issue (Notg) (i) 350,166,962 3,502 - -
At the of the reporting period RREHER 1,050,500,887 10,505 700,333,925 7,003

Note:

On 30 May 2024, the Company allotted and issued 350,166,962 new
ordinary shares of HK$0.162 per share by way of rights issue to the
qualifying shareholders of the Company on the basis of one right share
for every two existing ordinary shares. The net proceeds from the rights
issue of approximately HK$55,377,000 were used to general working
capital and for future investments.

NET ASSET VALUE PER SHARE

The calculation of net asset value per share is based
on net assets of the Group as at 31 December 2024 of
approximately HK$127,659,000 (2023: HK$71,883,000)
and 1,050,500,887 ordinary shares (2023: 700,333,925
ordinary shares) in issue.

25.

RIZ_NERB=1+H AADKRERRBEE
TEREE -RERRDZEEARABDSER
BRER LR R 5 IR B 1R0.16258 oA 8 R 31T
350,166,962 #7 & 48 % o (A R PR 1S FRIE F 5840
55,377,000 T AE— R EEE T MR RKEE o

BREERE

EREEFELNRELAEERER S
T HE+-"BA=+—HZEEEFE
#9127,659,0008 Tt (& - =
71,883,000 75) & 1,050,500,887& 2
BITE@ER (T =% :700,333,925
REER 5TE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kR G M B|RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE —ZE " UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

26. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 26. MfiB AT B

The following table lists the subsidiaries of the Company: TRINTEABMNBAT -

130

Proportion of Principal
Issued and ownership interest activities
Place/country of  Type of legal fully paid  and voting power held  and place
Name of subsidiary incorporation entity share capital by the Company of operations
31 BETR TGN
WEAR%E e/ ER RERER MRRT BEEERERELS TEXBREEMY
2024 2023
“ECME “F--f

%

%

Apex Cheer Investments Limited BVI Limited liability US$1 100 100 Investment holding
company
Apex Cheer Investments Limited HERUHE EREEAT 1E7T REZER
City King Investments Limited Hong Kong Limited liability HK$1 100 100 Investment holding
company
REUREBRAT & BREEAT 187 REER
Fortune Express Group Limited Hong Kong Limited liability HK$1 100 100 Investment holding
company
ENEBERAT &8 BREEAH 187 REZER
Full Long Holdings Limited BVI Limited liability US$1 100 100 Investment holding
(‘Full Long’) company
ERERERAS (ER) EREUEE BREAAT ET REZR
Genius Hill Limited Hong Kong Limited liability HK$1 100 100 Investment holding
company
FRERAT & BREAAR 187 REER
Mega way International Limited Hong Kong Limited liability HK$10,000 100 100 Investment holding
company
BRERERAT &8 BREEAH 10,0007 REER
Sky Champion Limited Hong Kong Limited liability HK$1 100 100 Investment holding
("Sky Champion’) company
FEARAT (THH) &8 BREAAT 13871 REZR
White Venture Capital Limited Hong Kong Limited liability HK$1 100 100 Investment holding
(‘White Venture’) company
EERERAE (MNEM) &% BREEAT 187 REER

Except for Sky Champion and White Venture, all other
subsidiaries are directly held by the Company.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities
outstanding at the end of the reporting period or at any time

during both years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE —E " UF+_F=+—HIEFE

27. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 27. AT ZMBRRARK(FHBEEH
AND MOVEMENT OF RESERVE OF THE
COMPANY
(a) Statement of financial position of the (@) EATZHBURRE
Company
2024 2023
o111 - 3 _EC=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#Ex FET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEERAE
Non-current assets ERENEE
Property, plant and equipment ME-BERZE 17 16
Intangible assets B EE 2,565 2,565
Investments in subsidiaries RB AR ZRE 10 10
2,592 2,591
Current assets MENEE
Prepayment SEINEOE] 465 471
Deposits paid BffiEE 408 324
Other receivables H th fE U AR =X 2 =
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUS BT B A B RRIE 92,038 73,910
Cash and cash equivalents BENIEEHEEH 1,103 839
94,016 75,544
Current liabilities mEafE
Accruals and other payables FESTER R M L FE (T BR R 3,468 855
Other financial liability Hth B aE
— non-convertible bond - R EHES 10,000 10,000
Amount due to a director B —%EENIE - 236
Amount due to a subsidiary BT —REM B A B =8 1,095 1,066
14,563 12,157
Net current assets TENE ERE 79,453 63,387
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kR a MBI RMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE_Z _NFE+_HB=+—HILEE

27. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 27. ZABZHBR AR (FEHEEES
AND MOVEMENT OF RESERVE OF THE (&)
COMPANY (CONTINUED)
(a) Statement of financial position of the (@) 2B ZHBRAR @)
Company (Continued)
2024 2023
—E_MmE TEI=HF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
FfsE F#Ex FET
Net assets BEFE 82,045 65,978
EQUITY S
Capital and reserves TATEEA
attributable to owners of FE(LBR A R (GE 1
the Company
Share capital [N 24 10,505 7,003
Reserves B 27(b) 71,540 58,975
Total equity Es4agE 82,045 65,978
Signed on its behalf by: AU TATRREZEZEEE .
Mung Kin Keung Mung Bun Man, Alan
e FmX
Director Director
o BFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE —E " UF+_F=+—HIEFE

27. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 27. KRB ZHBEIR AR R (EFEES

AND MOVEMENT OF RESERVE OF THE (%)
COMPANY (CONTINUED)
(b) Movement of reserve of the Company (b) TRTZHEEE
Capital
Share  Contribution  contribution ~Accumulated
premium surplus reserve losses Total
RiniE BEABR B 2t Wit
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TEL TAT TEL TET TET

As at 1 January 2023 RZE_=&—H—H 146,099 646,448 45,330 (753,498) 84,379
Loss and total comprehensive  FEE 1R 2 EEBEE
loss for the year - - - (25,404) (25,404)
Asat 31 December 2023and RZE_=%
asat 1 January 2024 +-B=+-Hk
RZE_NE—HB—H 146,099 646,448 45,330 (778,902) 58,975
Loss and total comprehensive  EE RS2 2 H S B84
loss for the year - - - (39,310) (39,310)
Issue of new shares by way — DUERR A U378 &R
of rights issue note 24) (Hyzt24) 53,225 - - - 53,225
Share issuing expenses RIDETRS (1,350) = - - (1,350)
Asat31December2024 HR-E_ME
+=B=+-8 197,074 646,448 45330  (818212) 71,540
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE_Z _NFE+_B=+—HILFEE

28. MATERIAL RELATED PARTIES
TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed
elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements,
the Group had the following significant transactions and
balances with related parties:

(i) Material transactions with related parties:

28. EXREALIRS

B‘%E’EEZ% OV BRRAMBOKEZ
R 5 K %‘%% AEFEMEBEALTIL
UTERRZ MR -

() BERAEALZEXRRS:

2024 2023

—E-ME TET=HF

Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5T F#ET FET

Expense relating to short-term E2REE A B 5ZHAFEE

leases to related companies B Z B

Disposal of financial assets at H & FE BB IR AT
fair value through profit or BT BEEET

loss to a director —%EE

(@
840 1,460

- 1,736

Note: (a) Mr. Mung and Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan, are also
the directors of GMHL as at and for the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

In December 2024, the Group entered into a one-year
lease in respect of office from related companies. The
amount of rent payable by the Group under the lease
is approximately HK$70,000 (2023: HK$70,000) per
month.
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28. MATERIAL RELATED PARTIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE —E _UF+_F=+—HIEFE

28.

TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(ii)

(iii)

Balances with related parties:

EXMEANLRS (@)

(i) HARMEALZEER:

2024 2023
—E-NE _EC=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FEIT

Rental deposit paid to a related
company

&

EN—EREARZEAES

247 247

Compensation of key management
personnel remuneration

Compensation for key management personnel,
including amount paid to the Company’s directors,
chief executive and certain of the highest paid
employees, as disclosed in note 11 to the
consolidated financial statements, is as follows:

(i) TEEEBASZEHMEE

TEEBABZHERFEENER
AEF FETBABRETES
HFMES AR BRRM T
PR ER) 288N ¢

2024 2023
o 1 - 2 “ET=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FHTT

#E AL REMEY)

Salaries, bonus and other

benefits in kind =Rl 7,279 5,808

Retirement benefit scheme RAEHN FHEHERR
contributions 36 36
7,315 5,844

The remuneration of directors, chief executive officer
and key management personnel is determined by
the remuneration committee having regard to the
performance of individuals and market trends.

ES THRERIARTBEEAEZ
T B E S S RIFEARE
RTBEBEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE —ZE " UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

29. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group contributes to a defined contribution the MPF
Scheme under the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
Ordinance for all employees in Hong Kong. Contributions
are made based on a percentage of the employees’ relevant
income and are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.
The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in an independently administered fund.
The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the
employees when contributed in the MPF Scheme. Under
the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are each
required to make contribution to the MPF Scheme at 5% of
the employees’ relevant income subject to a cap of monthly
relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the MPF
Scheme vest immediately.

The total expenses recognised in profit or loss for
contributions payable to these plans by the Group at rates
specified in the rules of the plans are set out in note 10 to
the consolidated financial statements.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, there is no
forfeited contributions included in retirement benefits
schemes contributions (2023: nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE —E " UF+_F=+—HIEFE

30. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES
ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash and
non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities
are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will
be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash
flows as cash flows from financing activities.

30.

MEXBEEZARZHIR

TRFLAEEREXFELEZERZ
D URRENIIFRTEH -REXEH
EEZEREHRESREECHNRKREE
MERNAEERGSREREXRDES

MEXBELEZREREZER-

Other
financial
Margin lability-
loan from non- Amount
securities convertible due to
broker bond adirector Total
Hfth
bk 5 HHak- Eft—%
RRER FuBHKES EEE &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Thn TEL TET TEL
e
As at 1 January 2023 RZE_=&£-A-H 515 10,143 - 10,658
Financing cash flows: HEREME .
Interest paid BAFE ) (200) - (202)
Repayment of margin loan from securities broker EXELAEET 2 Eig (515) - - (515)
Advance from a director RE—HEZZE - - 1972 1972
Non-cash changes: FREEE .
Consideration for disposal of HERBERRUATEIR MEER
financial assets at far value ZRE Witse)
through profit or loss (rofe 34) - - (1,736) (1,736)
Interest expenses recognised f1ofe §) BRANERS (s 2 200 - 202
As at 31 December 2023 and RIEZ=F+ZA=+—-HRRZ
asat 1 January 2024 “mE—B-H - 10,143 236 10,379
Financing cash flows: HERENE .
Interest paid EffFIE - (200) - (200)
Advance from a director RE—REZ2EF - - 1,000 1,000
Repayment to a director H—REZRENE - - (1,236) (1,236)
Non-cash changes: FReEE
Interest expenses recognised (1ofe §) BRI ERR (s - 200 - 200
As at 31 December 2024 R-E-mE+-A=+-H - 10,143 - 10,143
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE —ZE " UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The Group is exposed to a variety of financial risks
through its use of financial instruments in its ordinary
course of operations and in its investment activities.
Financial risks include market risk (including interest rate
risk and foreign currency risk), credit risk, other price risk
and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management
focuses on unpredictability of financial markets and seeks
to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s
financial performance. Risk management is carried out
by key management under the policies approved by the
board of directors. The Group does not have written risk
management policies. However, the board of directors meet
regularly and co-operate closely with key management
to identify and evaluate risks and to formulate strategies
to manage financial risks. The Group has not used any
derivatives or other instruments for hedging purposes and
has not held or issued derivative financial instruments for
trading purposes. The most significant risks to which the
Group is exposed to are described below.

(a) Categories of financial assets and
financial liabilities

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s
financial instruments mainly consisted of other
receivables, deposit paid, financial assets at FVTPL,
cash and cash equivalents, accruals and other
payables, amount due to a director and other financial
liability — non-convertible bond.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE —E " UF+_F=+—HIEFE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3. WBRAKREERATEIE (&)

AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

(CONTINUED)

(a) Categories of financial assets and () MBEERMBEEG/ZEN
financial liabilities (Continued) (%)
The carrying amounts presented in the Group’s REEBZGEEVBERRIEESNZ
consolidated statement of financial position relate EEEAU T REERTFERE
to the following categories of financial assets and EhAR

financial liabilities:

2024 2023
o 1 - 2 TEBC=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FE7T
.
Financial assets MBEEE
Amortised cost 51N
Other receivables HANFE IR TR 630 281
Deposits paid Bfi%E 408 324
Cash and cash equivalents BEKMIREEEER 5,999 1,595
FVTPL BB mIRUATFEY R
Financial assets at FVTPL FEEmIEUATE
HRR 2 B B 85,444 73,828
92,481 76,028
Financial liabilities MBaR
Amortised cost HEH Ay S
Accruals and other payables FESTERFR S HL A FE 1
IR 3,468 1,615
Amount due to a director B —R%EERE - 236
Other financial liability Hth % aE
— non-convertible bond - ARG S 10,000 10,000
13,468 11,851
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE —ZE " UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(b) Market risk

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair value
or cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group is exposed to
cash flow interest rate risk in relation to variable-rate
bank balances (2023: bank balances). The Group
manages its interest rate exposures by assessing
the potential impact arising from any interest rate
movements based on interest rate level and outlook.
The Group has not used any financial instrument to
hedge potential fluctuations in interest rates.

Sensitivity analysis

Bank balances are excluded from sensitivity analysis
as the management considers that the exposure of
cash flow interest rate risk arising from variable-rate
bank balances is insignificant.

The policies to manage interest rate risk have been
followed by the Group since prior years and are
considered to be effective.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE —E " UF+_F=+—HIEFE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 31. HERABREERATEE (B)
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

(CONTINUED)

(b) Market risk (Continued) (b) THIZEE 48

Foreign currency risk

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk
in respect of HK$ against the US$ as long as this
currency is pegged.

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy in respect of assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currency. The Group will
monitor its foreign currency exposure closely and
will consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

The change in exchange rate against US$ has not
been considered in the following sensitivity analysis as
HKS$ is pegged to US$. In the opinion of the directors,
the Group does not expect any significant movements
between the exchange rate of HK$ against US$.

S IR B

AEREUTEBRERBTIREETZ
ShEERRR - R Z G o

AEEBMILRMLSNESHEZE
ERBERENEHPHEER &
EREZEREIMNERRE > LR
BERERZEHMERINERR

M B TRETEY ETERS
BN TISRE D HART E 8 o
EERA AEEEEBTRES
> ERSTOAINEAR-
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE —ZE " UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(b) Market risk (Continued)

Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through its
investments in equity and debt securities measured
at FVTPL. For equity securities measured at FVTPL
quoted in relevant stock exchange, the directors
manage this exposure by maintaining a portfolio of
investments with different risks. In addition, the Group
also invested in unlisted equity and debt securities
for investees operating in different industry sectors
and unlisted investment funds which had been
classified as financial assets at FVTPL. The Group has
appointed a special team to monitor the price risk and
will consider hedging the risk exposure should the
need arise.

To manage its market price risk arising from these
investments, the Group diversifies its portfolio.
Diversification of the portfolio is done in accordance
with the limits set by the board of directors.

The policies to manage other price risk have been
followed by the Group since prior years and are
considered to be effective.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE — T _NFE+ "B =+—HILtFE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(b) Market risk (Continued)

Other price risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses have been determined based
on the exposure to equity price risk at the end of
the reporting period. Sensitivity analyses for unlisted
equity and debt securities and unlisted investment
funds with fair value measurement categorised
within level 2 and level 3 were disclosed in note
31(e) to the consolidated financial statements. For
sensitivity analysis of equity securities with fair value
measurement categorised within level 1, the sensitivity
rate is 35% in 2024 (2023: 35%) as a result of the
volatile financial market.

If the prices of the respective listed equity securities
had been 35% (2023: 35%) higher/lower, the
post-tax profit for the year ended 31 December
2024 would increase/decrease by approximately
HK$10,334,000 (2023: loss would decrease/increase
by HK$14,569,000) as a result of the changes in fair
value of listed equity securities classified as financial
assets at FVTPL.

31. HERAKREEBRRATFENE &)

(b) HIHEE (B

Hfth{&Es mbE (&)
SR E DT

BREDHRBERERERSHEREAZH
RERAKRMET -HATEFED
BABE_EBRAE=—BHRZIELT
RAREBEHEESURIELTRER
EZHREDTHENEEHBERE
Bﬁ.ﬁ?ﬂ( JRIRE - RAFEHED
BAF—EBRZEEAEZS 2WRKE
ADFME BHRERTH R &
RELER _ZT _WEA35% (Z
T = 135%)°

EXLTREABEHEZERE L3RS
TE35% (ZE =% :35%) ' H
RoEAERERKRURFET
R BEEZ LTRAEZESZ
NFESSH FE_T_NFE+_
B=+—BLEHFEZKRREBRET
o L7, F%10,334,000% 7T
(ZZZ=F . FEEg TR LtH
14,569,000 7T) ©

HESBRAT | 20245F 5

143



144

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 A
T O =

PAF5 3R R M sE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE —ZE " UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(c) Credit risk and impairment assessment

As at 31 December 2024, the Group does not hold
any collateral or other credit enhancements to cover
its credit risks associated with its financial assets. The
Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to other
receivables, deposits paid and bank balances. The
Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will
cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to
discharge an obligation by the counterparties is arising
from the carrying amount of the respective recognised
financial assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

The directors considered the crediit risk of the Group’s
other receivables and deposit paid are relatively low
as they have a low risk of default and the counterparty
has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash
flow obligations in the near term and the ECL for other
receivables and deposits paid are insignificant.

The Group deposited its bank balances with approved
and reputable banks. Bankruptcy or insolvency of
the banks may cause the Group’s right with respect
to bank balances held to be delayed or limited.
Management of the Company monitors the credit
rating of these banks on an ongoing basis, and
considers that the Group’s exposure to credit risk as
at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023 were
minimal.

The Group does not have any other significant
concentrations of credit risk. The exposures to these
credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE — T _NFE+ "B =+—HILtFE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(d) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk relates to the risk that the Group will not
be able to meet its obligations associated with its
financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash
or another financial asset. The Group is exposed to
liquidity risk in respect of settlement of accruals and
other payables, amount due to a director and other
financial liability - non-convertible bond and also in
respect of its cash flow management. The Group’s
objective is to maintain an appropriate level of liquid
assets and committed lines of funding to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and long term.

The liquidity policies have been followed by the Group
since prior years and are considered to have been
effective in managing liquidity risks.

Analysed below is the Group’s remaining contractual
maturities for its non-derivative financial liabilities,
which are based on contractual undiscounted cash
flows and the earliest date the Group can be required
to pay:

As at 31 December 2024 RZE-_ME+-A=+—-H

31. HERAKREEBRRATFENE &)

(d)

Weighted
average
effective

interest
rate
sy
BRRE
%

HENE = EL AR

m@ﬁ%ﬂﬁﬁﬁ$%@%
ﬁﬁ%%ﬁ@%?é?ﬁﬁm
%Z%W%ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁzﬂkﬁ
o AERETBEBRMKEAM
BNERT BN —2EFERNERE
iy HFaR - TBRESFUKRE
REMBEETEARABEEZR

R AEBZERERBRBEE
RAFEEZHEFRBEEKT  LUn

BEHEAREHEREESTE K.

AEBBBEFFEMUR—BETM
@%%HM WRABZERREE
BEresEsmE A miTZ2EMe

i 3

UTomnasEBzITEMBE
BzHBRENIRHBER ERES
U%%ﬁﬁ%mz&¢$ghiﬁ
MEZRFAH:

Total

Within contractual
one year or undiscounted Carrying
on demand cash flow amount

—FRsy  SHRER
EER HRERELE IREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER

HITEMBRRE .

Non-derivative financial
liabilities:

Accruals and other payables ~ FE5TERTU R ELAAE (T BR TN - 3,468 3,468 3,468

Other financial liability HiEisar
- non-convertible bond - RNEEIRES 2.00 10,057 10,057 10,000
13,525 13,525 13,468
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE_Z _NFE+_B=+—HILFEE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
(CONTINUED)

31. HERAKREEBRRATFENE &)

(d) Liquidity risk (Continued) (d) wEEEEME )
Weighted
average Total
effective Within contractual
interest oneyearor  undiscounted Carrying
rate on demand cash flow amount
T —ERE  ANRER
BERA= BEX Ren2QE REE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
As at 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F+"A=1+—H % TER TR THET
e
Non-clrivative financial FITLEHBEE
liabilities:
Accruals and other payables  FEFHRFUR ELMIE(TIR T - 1,615 1,615 1,615
Amount due to a director EN—%ESETE - 236 236 236
Other financial liability Hit%aR
- non-convertible bond - R &@ihEs 2.00 10,057 10,057 10,000
11,908 11,908 11,851

The Group considers expected cash flows from
financial assets in assessing and managing liquidity
risk, in particular, its cash resources and other liquid
assets that readily generate cash. The Group’s
existing cash resources and other liquid assets
significantly exceed the cash outflow requirements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE —E " UF+_F=+—HIEFE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 31. HERABREERATEE (B)
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

(CONTINUED)
(e) MMEIAZAFE

(e) Fair value of financial instruments

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are
measured at fair value on a recurring basis

Some of the Group’s financial instruments are
measured at fair value for financial reporting purposes.

In estimating the fair value, the Group uses market-
observable data to the extent it is available.
For instruments with significant unobservable
inputs under level 3, the Group engages firms of
independent qualified valuers to perform the valuation.
The management works closely with the qualified
external valuers to establish the appropriate valuation
techniques and inputs to the model. The management
reports the findings to the directors to explain the
cause of fluctuations in the fair value.

The following table gives information about how the
fair values of these financial assets are determined (in
particular, the valuation technique(s) and inputs used).

FTEBREEBELUATEAEZHM
BREZAFE

%tﬂj%%%&%g E/\]ﬁ'ﬁ%_ ) ZIK%ELB%\
B TARATESE-

EHEATER  AEESEEE
ARZBERTHEATSIRREH
B-HRNE=ZEREBETEAERT
ORZRARB IR AEET
ZREBYSERMGEMEHIET
HE-EEERGERIEEER
EREF REBERERMTRE
Hu A ABE - BEEBERESER
R UEBATERSZRRA-

TR EFUNAEERZSFMBE
EZATEZEHN FBRERABZ
HERMREARE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kR a MBI RMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE_Z _NFE+_B=+—HILFEE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 31. HERAKREEBRRATFENE &)
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
(CONTINUED)
(e) Fair value of financial instruments (e) MBIARAZAFE (48
(Continued)
As at 31 December 2024 R=E-MF Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
+-B=+-H F—Bik E_EBH BEZBR it

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FER FER FER

Fair value on arecurring S EBEHEZATE
basis

Financial assets at FVTPL ~ &B1EHEUAT(E

BRI EE
— listed equity securities - FHlRAES 35,360 - - 35,360
- unlisted equity and debt - 3F E IR A K EFE 2
securities - - 47,093 47,093
- unlisted investment funds - F LR EES - 2,991 = 2,991
35,360 2,991 47,093 85,444
As at 31 December 2023 R_E_=F Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
+-B=1+—H FBH& E_BHR E=EM 1@t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET TET TET FET
Fair value on a recurring BREEEGEZATE
basis
Financial assets at FVIPL ~ BBIERKUATE
FIERZ BB E
— listed equity securities - FTRAES 49,852 - - 49,852
- unlisted equity and debt - JF EFIIRA K &S
securities - - 20,922 20,922
- unlisted investment funds - F LR EES - 3,054 - 3,054
49,852 3,054 20,922 73,828
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE —E " UF+_F=+—HIEFE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 30. MBAMERRATEHE (B

AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

(CONTINUED)

(e) Fair value of financial instruments () MBIAZATE 8B
(Continued)
The majority of listed equity securities are KEBD EHRAESFT BT RE
denominated in HK$ and US$. Fair values have TTHBE RFERKR2ERENRRS
been determined by reference to their quoted market HERzFBUWmEETE BEEH
closing prices at the end of the reporting period and RERSHARBE A Z B EASMNEE =R
have been translated using the spot foreign currency 8o
rates at the end of the reporting period where
appropriate.
During the years ended 31 December 2024 and REBEEZE_NFEFERET =
2023, there were no transfers between level 1 and +ZB=+—BLEEE - F—EHR
level 2, or transfers into or out of level 3. EE_BHzRBTEEZ & A

REHFE=E R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE_Z _NFE+_HB=+—HILEE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(e) Fair value of financial instruments
(Continued)

Information about level 3 fair value measurements

Valuation
techniques

R

31. HERAKREEBRRATFENE &)

(e) MBIARAZAFE (48

BERB=MATFEAEZEN

Significant unobservable
input

EATARRBAUE

Relation of significant unobservable
inputs to fair value
EXTARRBAUE
BATEZMEE

Unlisted equity securities Market approach and equity

LR AES allocation model
mEE R ER DR
Net assets value
BEFE

Unlisted debt securities

SFLDREES

Market approach and binomial
tree model

i5ER BRI R
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P/S multiples ranging from 3.2 to

10.9 (2023: 2.5 t0 10.3)
MERELEHNF3.2210.9
(CEZ=%:25%103)

Marketability of discount rate
0f 20.4% (2023: 20.5%)

iz a1t RE3HE20.4%
(CEZ=6F1205%)

Expected volatility of 25.9% to
50.0% (2023 44.3% to 61.8%)

TEHK1825.9%%260.0%

(ZEZ=F443%%61.8%)

Net assets value
BEEFE

Expected volatility of 81.0%
(2023: 51.0%)

FRHIR1E81.0%
(ZBZ=%:51.0%)

Yield-to-maturity of 14.81%
(2023: 19.35%)
FEA % 14.81%
(CBZ=%:19.35%)

Risk-free rate of 4.24%
(2023: 5.40%)

A =R4.24%
(CEZ=%:540%)

The P/S multiples is positively correlated to
the fair value measurement of the
unlisted equity securities

MARREHEE FmRAESZ
ATEFEZFEE

The discount rate is negatively correlated
to the fair value measurement of the
unlisted equity securities

REEF PR AESZ
ATESTE2E1EH

The expected volatility is positively
correlated to the fair value measurement
of the unlisted equity securities

BB LHRAESZ
ATE 22 EHER

The net assets value is positively correlated to
the fair value measurement of the unlisted
equity securities

BEFERF LHRARS AT EAE
EN

The expected volatility is positively
correlated to the fair value measurement
of the unlisted debt securities

BHRIBEIF FRBESZATE
SEZEEH

The yield-to-maturity is negatively correlated
to the fair value measurement of the
unlisted debt securities
Hﬁ R EIE FmEBES 2 ATEs

E2 818

The risk-free rate is negatively correlated to
the fair value measurement of the unlisted
debt securities

mﬂ BREEFE FmERES 2 ATE

EE81EH



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE —E " UF+_F=+—HIEFE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(e) Fair value of financial instruments
(Continued)

Information about level 3 fair value measurements
(Continued)

Information about the valuation techniques used in
determining the fair value of the unlisted equity and
debt securities is disclosed above.

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfer into and
out of fair value hierarchy levels as of the date of the
events or change in circumstances that caused the
transfer.

The following table presents the changes in fair value

31. HERAKREEBRRATFENE &)

(e) MBIARAZAFE (48

ERB=MATFEAEZEN (&)

EMEEELTREIRABES
AT PR 2 fi A 2 LT
B EXCRE

AEEZHERSEDBEERER

ZEHHNBERBEHRZATEE
RzEBAEE -

TREVNDEARE=ZRL2TFERER

of financial assets which are classified as level 3 fair ZHUBREEZ AT EEH !
value hierarchy:
HK$'000
FAT
As at 1 January 2023 A TE T =—F—H—H 25,246
Disposal of unlisted equity securities HEIEETRAE S (1,736)
Loss arising in change in fair value of ZEIBEmERU AT ETIRZ T
financial assets at FVTPL, net BENTEEHELEZEHETFE (2,588)
As at 31 December 2023 and RIEZ=F+"A=+—HkK
as at 1 January 2024 —EWHE—HA—H 20,922
Disposal of unlisted equity securities HEFE EMRAES (760)
Gain arising in change in fair value of ZBEmIRU AT EYERZ T
financial assets at FVTPL, net BEEANFEEHEL 2 WRFRE 26,931
As at 31 December 2024 R-ZE-_mFE+-B=+—H 47,093
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kR G M B|RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE —ZE " UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

31.

32.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(e) Fair value of financial instruments
(Continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and
financial liabilities that are not measured at fair
value on a recurring basis

The carrying amounts of financial assets and financial
liabilities carried at amortised cost were not materially
different from their fair value as at 31 December 2024
and 2023.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group’s capital management objectives are to ensure
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to
provide an adequate return to shareholders.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its
capital structure to ensure optimal capital structure and
shareholder returns, taking into consideration the future
capital requirements of the Group, prevailing and projected
capital expenditures and projected strategic investment
opportunities. The Group’s overall strategy remains
unchanged from prior years.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the amount of dividend paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue of new
shares or redemption of existing shares or sell assets to
reduce debt.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE —E " UF+_F=+—HIEFE

32. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

The Group is not subject to externally imposed capital

requirements.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debts
(which includes amount due to a director and other financial
liability — non-convertible bond) and total equity.

The gearing ratio at the end of the reporting period are as

follows:

32.

BEXEIE (#)
A B B AR T I I 2 BAKRE o

FEBZEARBRERFR (HBER
T—2EFREBEREMMBEE - T8
BinEss) REmABRRMER

REBSHRZEEGRLEROT

2024 2023
kol 111 - CEC=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FET

Total debts (Note) B8R (Wat) 10,000 10,236
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B IRERIREEFEIER (5,999) (1,595)
Net debts (EEEE L] 4,001 8,641

Total equity HEmAREE 127,659 71,883
Net debt to equity ratio B PEE ML= 3.1% 12.0%
Total debt to equity ratio B ARRE S R m bR 7.8% 14.2%

Note: Total debts comprises amount due to a director and other

financial liability — non-convertible bond.

Wit AR EEERN —REERIEREMY
Baf - TAERES-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE —ZE " UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

33. INVESTMENT

Pursuant to the requirements stipulated in Chapter 21.12
of the Listing Rules, the Group discloses its list of all
investments with a value greater than 5% of the Group’s
gross assets and at least 10 largest investments as at 31
December 2024 and 2023 respectively as follows:

As at 31 December 2024

33. &8

BiE EHRAE2N 128 THZRE &
ERNBREN _ZE - NER T =
F+_RB=1+—HFEEEBALER
BEBES Y B EURE/ M0ER K
BZHRWOTF .

R-ZF_NE+-RA=+—H

Market value/
Percentage of Net assets fair value as at
equity interest  attributable to Costof 31 December Dividend
held the Group investment 2024 received
R-E-mE
fgEkE  ASEAY  4RzT-R
LS ER BERE RENE 2mE/ LFE g2hke
Name of investments Notes % HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
iE: % FiEn TR TR FiEn
Listed equity securities LhksiEs
AibabaGoup HoldngLimted ~~~ I2EEEBERERAT @) below 0.01 193 5422 2637 113
fEH0.01
Baiin Life Science Holdings Limited ~ BEERREZRERAT () 053 569 29,341 2,097 -
(formerly known as Affuent (Bl éAffuent Pariners
Partners Holaings Limited) Holdings Limited$%R £2i%
BRAE)
Brockman Mining Limited Brockman Mining Limited © 291 12,79 44,597 27,009 =
hRnEREARAT
Tencent Holdings Limited EBRERERAE d below 0.01 656 2,795 2,05 2%
fEA0.01
Unlisted investment fund, ELmREES RER
equity and debt securities fExiEs
Click VC Segregated Portfolio Click VC Segregated Portfolo ~ (g) NAFER N/A FiER 3744 1,685 -
Company - Fund 3 SP Company - Fund 3 SP
Infinity Technology (Cayman) Limited ~ Infinty Technology (Cayman) () NARER N/A FER 3,900 3,133 -
- Preferred shares Limited - B% R
Oddup Inc. - Preferred shares Oddup Inc. - B 0 NA FiER NAFER 11,700 32,485 -
Oddup Inc. - SAFET] Oddup Inc. - SAFETI NARER N/A FER 2,340 4,751 -
Pantheon Lab Limited ERRNERAR ) NAFER NAFER 3925 5675 -
- Convertile promissory notes -BHARE
Cryptocurrencies held on RARBEENNEER
exchange institutions
usoT usoT 0l NAFER NATER 41,012 41,012 -
148,776 122,736 139
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE —E " UF+_F=+—HIEFE

33. INVESTMENT (CONTINUED) 33. 8E (&)
As at 31 December 2023 RIZEZ=%+ZHA=+—H
Market value/
Net assets fair value as at
Percentage of  attributable fo Costof 31 December Dividend
equity interest held the Group investment 2028 received
RIBZE
FRERE  REEAL B
RN BERE REmA 2hB/ATHE BlkE
Name of investments % HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HKS'000
RELH % TEn TR TEn TR
Listed equity securities 7% ¢
Baijn Life Science Holdings Limted ~ A4 HREZRERAT 055 414 29,341 2434 -
(formerly known as Affuent (Bi#BAfluent Partners Holdings Limited
Partners Holdings Limited) AEERERAT)
Albaba Group Holding Limited HECEEEERERAR below 0,01 4957 7370 3289 -
fE50.01
Brockman Mining Limited Brockman Mining Limited 291 14,914 44,597 37,812 -
hRTBREERAT
Frontier Services Group Limited Frontier Services Group Limited 040 2,027 9,597 2179 -
FERBERRRAT
Tencent Holdings Limited ERERERAT below 0.01 965 4917 2789 156
{ER001
Unlisted investment fund, ELmREES RERERES
equity and debt securities
Click VC Segregated Portfolio Click VC Segregated Portfolio N/A N/A 3822 1,720 -
Company - Fund 3 SP Company - Fund 3 SP Nl Nl
Infinity Technology (Cayman) Limited  Infinity Technology (Cayman) N/A N/A 3900 3,180 -
- Preferred shares Limited - (B8 MR AER
Qddup Inc. - Preferred shares Oddup Inc. - B NA N/A 11,700 8,17 -
TER AER
Oddup Inc. - SAFETI Oddup Inc. - SAFET! N/A N/A 2,340 3,92 -
TER Nl
Pantheon Lab Limited ERREBERAR N/A N/A 3925 3869 -
- Convertible promissory notes -BRAREE R TER
121,509 69,368 156

2 1B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kR G M B|RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE —ZE " UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

33. INVESTMENT (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(@

Alibaba Group Holding Limited was incorporated in the Cayman
Islands and its shares are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 09988) and on the New York Stock Exchange (symbol:
BABA). Alibaba Group Holding Limited is principally engaged
in core commerce, cloud computing, digital media and
entertainment and innovation initiatives and others.

For the nine months ended 31 December 2024, the unaudited
consolidated profit attributable to the equity holders of the
company was approximately RMB117,088 million and
its unaudited consolidated net assets was approximately
RMB1,083,317 million.

Baijin Life Science Holdings Limited (formerly known as Affluent
Partners Holdings Limited) was incorporated in the Cayman
Islands and its shares are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 01466). Baijin Life Science Holdings Limited is principally
engaged in the purchasing, processing, designing, production
and wholesale distribution of pearls and jewelry products and
the operation of strategic investment and financial services
segment, with the objective to include investments in real estate
and other potential investment opportunities.

For the six months ended 30 September 2024, the unaudited
consolidated loss attributable to the equity holders of the
company was approximately HK$1,901,000 and its unaudited
consolidated net assets was approximately HK$107,436,000.

Brockman Mining Limited was incorporated in Bermuda and
its shares are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code:
00159). Brockman Mining Limited is principally engaged in the
acquisition, exploration and development of iron ore in Australia.

For the six months ended 31 December 2024, the unaudited
consolidated loss attributable to the equity holders of the
company was approximately HK$19,470,000 and its unaudited
consolidated net assets was approximately HK$439,669,000.

Walnut Capital Limited | Annual Report 2024

33. 98 (8)

miaE -

@

*

WECBERZERARABDNHESHESH
AL R E AR D BB S2 PR L s (BRI A5 -
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MBI 755 o
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il 7\%%‘])\&“5‘117 088E B TR HAK SR
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Brockman Mining Limited?n 3 52 B3 i 2 A IR
NEH B R E AR I R E R BB S P
L (A SR : 00159) °Brockman Mining
LimitedG e BIEE A R AR EFEFRA
MEEfe B R R R EIR A o

BE_Z_ME+_A=+—HLME
B 2R BB AE ANBILREEZAEE
E73#919,470,0008 TR H KR EEZAEE

BB {E 7 #3439,669,00078 7T

1EH# S



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE —E " UF+_F=+—HIEFE

33. INVESTMENT (CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continueq)

@)

Tencent Holdings Limited was incorporated in the Cayman
Islands and its shares are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 00700). Tencent Holdings Limited is principally engaged
in the provision of Value-Added Services, Online Advertising
services and FinTech and Business Services.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the audited
consolidated profit attributable to the equity holders of the
company was approximately RMB196,467 million and
its audited consolidated net assets was approximately
RMB1,053,896 million.

Fund 3 SP is operated by Click VC Segregated Portfolio
Company Limited and was incorporated in the Cayman
Islands and continued in the British Virgin Islands. Fund 3 SP is
principally invested in start-ups at the seed to series A stage in
Hong Kong and internationally.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the unaudited net
assets of the company was approximately US$1,261,000.

Infinity Technology (Cayman) Limited was incorporated in
the Cayman Islands. Infinity Technology (Cayman) Limited is
principally engaged in providing the point of sales and online
ordering platform service.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the unaudited
consolidated profit attributable to the equity holders of the
company was approximately HK$259,000 and its unaudited
consolidated net liabilities was approximately HK$4,275,000.

Oddup Inc. was incorporated in the United States of America
and is principally engaged in operating a research platform that
provides analytical information on startups, their trends, and
both current and expected future valuations.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the unaudited
loss attributable to the equity holders of the company was
approximately US$103,000 and its unaudited net assets was
approximately US$2,397,000.

33. 98 (8)

Mzt &)

@

EAZERARRABDNFESEBEMMILK
HR M5 Az Fr L (R 9% £ 00700) °
BAZERBERABD EER FRMMER
BB LESRBRERMAHR R R

BE_Z_NFE+_B=+—HLEFE =Z
REEEFA ABGEEZES BN R
ARM196467TEBTRERERGAEE
FERIARE,053,896E & T ©

Fund 3 SPHClick VC Segregated Portfolio
Company Limited& 12 > IR S8 B
VIR AEERELFSFE Fund 3 SPEE
BREBFHUA AN BB RERTHZE
TAERRLE o

BE_Z_NFE+_B=+—HLEFE =Z
RE 2 KRIEBEZREEZFER41,261,0005%
T ©

Infinity Technology (Cayman) Limited i 58 £
B¥ E5EM AL AL © Infinity Technology (Cayman)
Limited = EW SR HHEM KR LFTEF
AR -

BE_Z_NE+_B=+—HILEE &
NERRFE AEHAREEZGEGHMNE
#9259,000 B T R ER KB ZIFEAEFE
##94,275,00078 7T ©

Oddup Inc. ;A EEIEE AL > TEHEEIE
FTHER ZTaRHEEBVAIRE -ZE
REBB UK ERT R BRI EEN DT
ER-

BE_E_NME+_A=+—HI=EE-
ZABIED B AELREEZEE AL
103,000 E TR EAKLEZEEFEAL
2,397,000 7T ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE —ZE " UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

33. INVESTMENT (CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continueq)

W)

Pantheon Lab Limited was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
and is principally engaged in artificial intelligence and software
research and development.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the unaudited
loss attributable to the equity holders of the company was
approximately HK$8,938,000 and its unaudited net liabilities
was approximately HK$13,260,000.

USDT is a blockchain-enabled platform designed to facilitate the
use of fiat currencies in a digital manner. USDT exist as digital
tokens built on several leading blockchains. These transport
protocols consist of opensource software that interface with
blockchains to allow for the issuance and redemption of USDT.
USDT is referred to as stablecoin as it is pegged at 1:1 with a
matching fiat currency (e.g. 1 USDT = 1 USD) and is backed
100% by USDT's reserves, which includes traditional currency,
cash equivalents, and other assets, including receivables from
loans made by USDT to third parties. USDT are listed on major
exchanges, Over-The-Counter desks, and wallets.

34. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTION

The Group entered into the following major non-cash
financing activity which is not reflected in the consolidated
statement of cash flows:

On 19 December 2023, the Group completed to dispose
certain unlisted equity securities to Mr. Mung Bun Man,
Alan with an aggregate consideration of HK$1,736,000,
which was settled by the loan from Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan
during the year ended 31 December 2023.
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35.

36.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE —E " UF+_F=+—HIEFE

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

On 28 January 2025, Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan completed
to assign 400,000,000 Aki Network tokens as a gift to Full
Long, a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
(the “Donation”). No consideration was required to pay
by Full Long. The fair value of Aki Network tokens as at
date of completion of the Donation was approximately
HK$35,041,000 and held by the Group for capital
appreciation.

APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 March
2025.

35.

36.

BEMREE

RIE_HEF—BZ+/N\H Mg
4 ST HE400,000,0001E Aki Networkft, #&
HETARBZEEZEZENBABERM
TEAERIE (T4RR8)) -ERREF I (IEM
1 o Aki Network {72 1582 SE AR B HA
KA FE#H 535,041,000 Tl A E
ERFEEARIEE-

HERSMBERR

ROV BRREEFEN _ZT_0F=
B+ N\B#EREETE-
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE_Z _NFE+_B=+—HILFEE

For the year ended 31 December

BE+-A=+—BHLFE

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
TECTEF -4 BI"4F “EBEI=-F ZEZNHE
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET FHET FHET F#T

Results ¥i5

Revenue W im 6,037 6,538 757 165 539
(Loss)/profit before BrET1SMAT (518

income tax gl (18,792) (64,030)  (117,036) (25,294) 399
Income tax expense TS - - - - -
(Loss)/profit for the year  EE (§548) /& # (18,792) (64,0300  (117,036) (25,294) 399
At 31 December
®+=ZB=+—H
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
—EBECEF B4 T B4 ZEZMfE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FHET FHET F#T

Total assets s E 319,878 250,118 109,311 83,734 141,127
Total liabilities B4 (41,635) (35,905) (12,134) (11,851) (13,468)
Net assets BEFE 278,243 214,213 97,177 71,883 127,659
Total equity T 75 AR 2R 278,243 214,213 97,177 71,883 127,659
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